

The scheme of monogenic generators I: representability

Arpin, S.A.; Bozlee, S.; Herr, L.S.; Smith, H.

Citation

Arpin, S. A., Bozlee, S., Herr, L. S., & Smith, H. (2023). The scheme of monogenic generators I: representability. *Research In Number Theory*, *9*(1). doi:10.1007/s40993-022-00419-5

Version:Publisher's VersionLicense:Licensed under Article 25fa Copyright Act/Law (Amendment Taverne)Downloaded from:https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3674068

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

representability

RESEARCH



Sarah Arpin¹, Sebastian Bozlee², Leo Herr^{1*} and Hanson Smith³

The scheme of monogenic generators I:

*Correspondence: herr@math.utah.edu ¹University of Leiden, Leiden, The Netherlands Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

Abstract

This is the first in a series of two papers that study monogenicity of number rings from a moduli-theoretic perspective. Given an extension of algebras B/A, when is B generated by a single element $\theta \in B$ over A? In this paper, we show there is a *scheme* $\mathcal{M}_{B/A}$ parameterizing the choice of a generator $\theta \in B$, a "moduli space" of generators. This scheme relates naturally to Hilbert schemes and configuration spaces. We give explicit equations and ample examples.

Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 14D20, Secondary 11R04, 13E15

Contents

1	Introduction										
	1.1 Outline of this paper	4									
	1.2 Summary of previous results	4									
	1.3 Acknowledgements	6									
2	The scheme of monogenic generators	7									
	2.1 Functoriality of \mathcal{M}_X	10									
	2.2 Relation to the Hilbert scheme	12									
3	The local index form and construction of \mathcal{M}	13									
	3.1 Explicit equations for the scheme \mathcal{M}	13									
	3.2 Explicit equations for polygenerators \mathcal{M}_k	17									
4	Examples of the scheme of monogenerators	18									
	4.1 First examples	18									
	4.2 Field extensions	21									
	4.3 Orders in number rings	25									
	4.4 Other examples	27									
	4.5 Limits and colimits	29									
5	Finite locally free algebras with monogenerators	29									
Re	ferences	31									

1 Introduction

The theorem of the primitive element states that given a finite separable field extension L/K, there is an element θ of L such that $L = K(\theta)$. This holds for any extension of number

© The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023.

fields L/K. By contrast, the extension of their rings of integers $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$ may require up to $\lceil \log_2([L:K]) \rceil$ elements of \mathbb{Z}_L to generate \mathbb{Z}_L as a \mathbb{Z}_K -algebra [57].

Question 1.1 Which extensions $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$ are generated by a single element over \mathbb{Z}_K ? More generally, which finite locally free algebras B/A are generated by a single element over A? How many elements does it take to generate B over A otherwise?

Definition 1.2 A finite locally free *A*-algebra *B* is *monogenic*¹ if there is an element $\theta \in B$ such that $B = A[\theta]$. The element θ is called a *monogenic generator* or *monogenerator* of *B* over *A*.

If there are elements $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k \in B$ such that $B = A[\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k]$, then B/A is *k*-genic and $(\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k)$ is a generating *k*-tuple.

This paper is motivated by the observation that monogenicity² of an algebra can be restated geometrically:

Lemma 1.3 Let $A \subseteq B$ be an inclusion of rings. A choice of element $\theta \in B$ is equivalent to a commutative triangle

$$\operatorname{Spec} B \xrightarrow{s_{\theta}} \mathbb{A}^{s_{\theta}}_{A}, \tag{1}$$

where s_{θ} is the map induced by the A-algebra homomorphism $A[t] \rightarrow B$ taking t to θ .

The element θ is a monogenerator if and only if the map s_{θ} is a closed immersion.

Likewise, a k-tuple $\vec{\theta} = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k) \in B^k$ determines a corresponding map $s_{\vec{\theta}}$: Spec $B \to \mathbb{A}^k_A$ induced by the A-algebra homomorphism $A[t_1, \ldots, t_k] \to B$ taking $t_i \mapsto \theta_i$. The tuple $(\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_k)$ generates B over A if and only if $s_{\vec{\theta}}$ is a closed immersion.

Proof Omitted.

We ask if there is a scheme that represents such commutative triangles as in moduli theory [21, Chap. 1]. We prove that for any Noetherian ring A and finite locally-free A-algebra B, there is a representing scheme $\mathcal{M}_{B/A}$ over Spec A called the *scheme of monogenerators*. There is an analogous *scheme of generating k-tuples* or *scheme of k-generators* denoted by $\mathcal{M}_{k,B/A}$. When the extension B/A is implied, we simply write \mathcal{M} or \mathcal{M}_k as appropriate.

Theorem 1.4 Let B/A be a finite locally free extension of Noetherian rings. There is an affine A-scheme $M_{B/A}$ and finite type quasiaffine A-schemes $M_{k,B/A}$, for $k \ge 1$, with natural bijections

 $Hom_{(Sch/A)}(Spec C, \mathcal{M}_{B/A}) \cong \{\theta \in B \mid \theta \text{ is a monogenerator for } C \otimes_A B \text{ over } C\}$

and

 $Hom_{(Sch/A)}(\operatorname{Spec} C, \mathcal{M}_{k,B/A}) \cong \left\{ \vec{\theta} \in B^k \mid \vec{\theta} \text{ is a generating } k \text{-tuple for } C \otimes_A B \text{ over } C \right\}$

¹The literature often uses the phrase "*L* is monogenic over *K*" to mean $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$ is monogenic as above. We prefer " \mathbb{Z}_L is monogenic over \mathbb{Z}_K " in order to treat fields and more exotic rings uniformly. If *B* is monogenic of degree *n* over *A* with monogenerator θ , the elements $\{1, \theta, \theta^2, \ldots, \theta^{n-1}\}$ are elsewhere referred to as a "power *A*-integral basis." ²'Monogeneity' is also common in the literature.

for A-algebras C.

The problem of finding generating *k*-tuples of $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$ is thereby identified with that of finding \mathbb{Z}_K -points of the schemes $\mathcal{M}_{k,\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K}$. The functors $\operatorname{Hom}(-, \mathcal{M}_k)$ automatically form sheaves in the fpqc topology (and therefore also in coarser topologies). This permits monogenicity to be studied locally, a perspective that we will pursue further in the second paper in this series.

The extensions of rings B/A under consideration are much more general than extensions of number rings, and there is no difficulty in extending the construction of $\mathcal{M}_{B/A}$ to maps of schemes $S' \to S$ locally of the form Spec $B \to$ Spec A with B finite locally free over A. For example, a finite map of algebraic curves $C \to D$ is of this form. We can therefore view monogenicity in other contexts as analogous to monogenicity of number rings.

Some of these other extensions of rings are nevertheless functorially related to extensions of number rings. For example, for every extension of number rings $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$, there is a map Spec $\mathbb{C} \to$ Spec \mathbb{Z}_K . Pulling back Spec $\mathbb{Z}_L \to$ Spec \mathbb{Z}_K along this map yields Spec $\mathbb{C}^n \to$ Spec \mathbb{C} , a trivial cover of a point. Pulling back $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K}$ along the same map yields $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}^n/\mathbb{C}}$. This part of the monogenicity space is already interesting:

Example 1.5 Let $A = \mathbb{C}$ and $B = \mathbb{C}^n$. The complex points of the monogenicity space are naturally in bijection with the points of the configuration space of *n* distinct points in \mathbb{C} :

 $\mathcal{M}_{1,B/A}(\mathbb{C}) \simeq \operatorname{Conf}_n(\mathbb{C}) := \{(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid x_i \neq x_j \text{ for } i \neq j\}.$

Monogenicity therefore generalizes configuration spaces by conceiving of B/A as "families of points" to be configured in \mathbb{A}^1 . See Examples 3.6 and 4.2 for details.

The scheme of monogenerators admits a simple description in local coordinates: it is the complement in the Weil Restriction of the vanishing of a "local index form," closely related to the well-known index forms considered elsewhere in the study of monogenicity.

In the case *B* is a free *A*-algebra with basis e_1, \ldots, e_n , the *local index form with respect to the basis* e_1, \ldots, e_n is

 $i(e_1,\ldots,e_n) = \det(a_{ij})_{1\leq i,j\leq n}$

where $a_{ij} \in A[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ are the unique coefficients such that $(x_1e_1 + \cdots + x_ne_n)^{j-1} = \sum_{i=1}^n a_{ij}a_i$ for each $j = 1, \ldots, n$.

Theorem 1.6 (Theorem 3.5) If B is a free A-algebra with basis e_1, \ldots, e_n , we have

 $\mathcal{M}_{B/A} \cong \operatorname{Spec} A[x_1, \ldots, x_n, i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)^{-1}].$

More conceptually, $\mathcal{M}_{1,B/A}$ is the locus in \mathbb{A}^n where the *matrix of coefficients* $(a_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$ has maximal rank.

The monogenicity space of a finite locally free map of Noetherian schemes is always Zariski locally of this form by Corollary 2.14. The monogenicity space $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ is therefore the complement of a family of determinental varieties in an affine bundle over *S*.

Similar work shows that for k > 1, $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ is locally on S the locus on which a certain non-square matrix M attains maximal rank. Taking determinants of minors exhibits $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ also as the complement of a family of determinental varieties. Using the minors of M, we obtain $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ as a union of distinguished affines: $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ is not in general affine. See Theorem 3.14.

B. Poonen constructed an algebraic stack parameterizing a *choice* of finite locally free *A*-algebra *B*, i.e. of an *S'* over *S*. We combine this with our moduli of generators for S'/S and show the result is a *scheme* in the final Sect. 5:

Theorem 1.7 (Theorem 5.3 for C = S) Let \mathscr{F} be the moduli problem over S-schemes T consisting of:

- A finite locally free map $T' \to T$
- A monogenerator $T' \subseteq \mathbb{A}^1_T$.

Then \mathcal{F} is representable by a scheme.

1.1 Outline of this paper

Section 2 defines our main object of study $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ for a finite locally free map $S' \to S$. We prove in Proposition 2.3 that $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ is representable as a scheme. This scheme parametrizes choices of monogenerators for the algebra extension $\mathcal{O}_{S'}/\mathcal{O}_S$. We offer basic properties and examples. In Sect. 2.1, we prove functoriality of $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$. In Sect. 2.2 we relate our construction of $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ to the classical Hilbert scheme and a related construction of Poonen [58].

In Sect. 3, we obtain explicit affine charts for $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ using local index forms and deduce affineness for $\mathcal{M}_{B/A}$. The index form tells whether a given section $\theta \in \mathcal{O}_{S'}$ is a monogenerator for $\mathcal{O}_{S'}/\mathcal{O}_S$ or not. We generalize to provide explicit equations for *k*-generators in Sect. 3.2. In Theorem 3.13, we prove that when none of the local index forms are zero divisors, the divisor class of the scheme of non-monogenerators in $\underline{\text{Hom}}_S(S', \mathbb{A}^1)$ is the pullback of the Steinitz class of S'/S from *S*.

Section 4 gives a variety of concrete examples of the scheme of monogenerators \mathcal{M} , including: separable and inseparable field extensions, a variety of orders in number fields including Dedekind's non-monogenic cubic, jet spaces, and completions. These explicit equations put into practice classical theory in addition to the theory we have built. We encourage the reader to consult these examples to complement the results in earlier sections.

Section 5 presents a related moduli problem parameterizing not only monogenerators but a choice of algebra as well. Theorem 5.3 proves that this related moduli problem is representable as well, albeit as an algebraic stack instead of a scheme.

1.2 Summary of previous results

The question of which rings of integers are monogenic was posed to the London Mathematical Society in the 1960's by Helmut Hasse. Hence the study of monogenicity is sometimes known as *Hasse's problem*. For an in-depth look at monogenicity with a focus on algorithms for solving index form equations, see Gaál's book [24]. Evertse and Győry's book [18] provides background with a special focus on the relevant Diophantine equations. For another bibliography of monogenicity, see Narkiewicz's texts [53, pp. 79–81] and [54, pp. 75–77].

The prototypical examples of number rings are monogenic over \mathbb{Z} , such as quadratic and cyclotomic rings of integers. Dedekind [14] produced the first example of a non-monogenic number ring (see Example 4.12). Dedekind used the splitting of the prime 2 to show that the field obtained by adjoining a root of $x^3 - x^2 - 2x - 8$ to \mathbb{Q} is not monogenic

over \mathbb{Z} . Hensel [45] showed that local obstructions to monogenicity come from primes whose splitting cannot be accommodated by the local factorization of polynomials in the sense of Dedekind-Kummer factorization. See [63, Proposition III.12] and also [57] which is discussed briefly below. For very recent English translations of the original pioneering works, consult [31] and [32].

Global obstructions also preclude monogenicity. For a number field L/\mathbb{Q} , the *field index* is the greatest common divisor $gcd_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_L} [\mathbb{Z}_L : \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]]$. A number field L can have field index 1 and \mathbb{Z}_L may still not be monogenic, for example the ring of integers of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt[3]{25 \cdot 7})$; see [53, page 65] or Example 4.14. Define the *minimal index* to be $\min_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_L} [\mathbb{Z}_L : \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]]$. The monogenicity of \mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z} is equivalent to having minimal index equal to 1. An early result of Hall [40] shows that there exist cubic fields with arbitrarily large minimal indices. In [69], this is generalized to show that every cube-free integer occurs as the minimal index of infinitely many radical cubic fields.

The monogenicity of a given extension of \mathbb{Z} is encoded by a Diophantine equation called the *index form equation*. Győry made the initial breakthrough regarding the resolution of index form equations and related equations in the series of papers [33–36], and [37]. These papers investigate monogenicity and prove effective finiteness results for affine inequivalent monogenerators in a variety of number theoretic contexts. For inequivalent monogenic generators one should also consult [6,19], and the survey [20]. Specializing families of polynomials to obtain monogenic extensions is investigated in [49]. In large part due to the group in Debrecen, there is a vast literature involving relative monogenicity: [23,26,28–30,38,39], and [27].

Pleasants [57] bounds the number of generators needed for a field of degree n by $\lceil \log_2(n) \rceil$, with equality if 2 splits completely. This upper bound is a consequence of a precise description of exactly when an extension is locally k-genic in the sense that the completion at each prime is k-genic. For number rings, Pleasants answers the question of what the minimal positive integer k > 1 is such that \mathbb{Z}_L is k-genic. Global obstructions only appear in the case of monogenicity: for k > 1, Pleasants shows that local k-genicity is equivalent to global k-genicity.

A related account is given in [18, Chap. 11], where it is shown that given an order \mathfrak{O} of a finite étale \mathbb{Q} -algebra, one can effectively compute the smallest k such that \mathfrak{O} is k-genic. In the spirit of the previous work of Győry, one can also effectively compute the k generators of \mathfrak{O} over \mathbb{Z} .

Monogenicity has recently been viewed from the perspective of arithmetic statistics: Bhargava, Shankar, and Wang [11] have shown that the density of monic, irreducible polynomials in $\mathbb{Z}[x]$ such that a root is a monogenerator is $\frac{6}{\pi^2} = \zeta(2)^{-1} \approx 60.79\%$. That is, about 61% of monic, integer polynomials correspond to monogenerators. They also show the density of monic integer polynomials with square-free discriminants (a sufficient condition for a root to be a monogenerator) is

$$\prod_{p} \left(1 - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{(p-1)^2}{p^2(p+1)} \right) \approx 35.82\%.$$

Thus these polynomials only account for slightly more than half of the polynomials yielding a monogenerator. Using elliptic curves, [1] shows that a positive proportion of cubic number fields are not monogenic despite having no local obstructions. More recently, the trio have undertaken a similar investigation for quartic fields [2]. For quartic orders, Bhargava [8] also establishes a new upper bound on the number of essentially different monogenerators. In a pair of papers that investigate a variety of questions ([64] and [65]), Siad shows that monogenicity appears to increase the average amount of 2-torsion in the class group of number fields. In particular, monogenicity has a doubling effect on the average amount of 2-torsion in the class group of odd degree number fields. Previously, [9] had established this result in the case of cubic fields.

Following the completion of this paper, we were made aware of several bodies of related work on monogenicity in geometric contexts, such as Stein manifolds [17,66,67] and Riemann surfaces [59]. The question of the existence of monogenerators, referred to as "primitive elements" was raised by Alling for Riemann surfaces [3] and then for Stein manifolds by Röhrl [60].

In these geometric contexts, the relationship between the existence of monogenerators and embeddings into trivial line bundles has been frequently observed (see for example, [17, Sect. 1], [67, Proposition 2]). It is natural then to consider embeddings of finite covers into line bundles or vector bundles rather than trivial bundles. (In fact, we do so in the category of schemes in the sequel to this paper: finite maps $\pi : S' \to S$ admitting an embedding into a line bundle are instances of what we call *twisted monogenic extensions*.) Such embeddings of finite covers into bundles have seen much study in other geometric categories, such as those of topological spaces, smooth manifolds, piecewise linear manifolds and others, see for example [13,16,22,25,41-43,50-52,62]. In many of these papers a key step was the construction of a representing space for such embeddings of covers under the assumption that the covers were regular or unbranched, see [17, Theorem 1.3], [25, Sect. 1], [41, Sect. 3], [43, Sect. 3]. These spaces are closely related to our space of monogenerators in the case that $S' \rightarrow S$ is étale. Another related construction is Lønsted's representing space $V_n(L)$ [51, Proposition 1], which parametrizes branched coverings in the category of topological spaces $f: \tilde{X} \to X$ together with an embedding of $ilde{X}$ into a line bundle L over X. Our work appears to be the first construction of a space of monogenerators in the category of schemes.

Casnati-Ekedahl obtain an essentially canonical generating set of order n - 1 for degree n extensions S'/S [12]. The functor of points is also gaining traction as a new tool to study related problems, such as in [68] which considers a functor of points similar to Definition 2.2. We thank the referee for bringing these two works to our attention.

1.3 Acknowledgements

Sebastian Bozlee would like to thank David Smyth and Ari Shnidman for their support and for helpful conversations.

Leo Herr would like to thank Gebhard Martin, the mathoverflow community for [47] and [46], Tommaso de Fernex, Robert Hines, and Sam Molcho. Tommaso de Fernex looked over a draft and made helpful suggestions about jet spaces. Leo Herr thanks the NSF for providing partial support by the RTG grant #1840190.

Hanson Smith would like to thank Henri Johnston and Tommy Hofmann for help with computing a particularly devious relative integral basis in Magma.

All four authors would like to thank their graduate advisors Katherine E. Stange (first and fourth authors) and Jonathan Wise (second and third authors). This project grew out of the fourth author trying to explain his thesis to the second author in geometric terms. We are greatful to Richard Hain for making us aware of the literature on monogenicity for Stein spaces and topological spaces. For numerous computations throughout, we were very thankful to be able to employ Magma [5] and SageMath [71]. For a number of examples the [70] was invaluable. We are also indebted to the referee for a thoughtful and thorough review.

2 The scheme of monogenic generators

We now use Lemma 1.3 to construct the scheme of monogenic generators $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$, our geometric reinterpretation of the classical question of monogenicity. Given any extension of number fields L/K, the map $S':=\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_L \to S:=\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_K$ is finite locally free and $X = \mathbb{A}^k_{\mathbb{Z}_K} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_K$ is quasiprojective; these properties suffice for our purposes. Leaving X general permits analogues of monogenicity such as embeddings into \mathbb{P}^k , which are more natural when $S' \to S$ is a map of proper varieties. We invite the reader to picture S' as the ring of integers $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_L$ in a number field, $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_K$, and X as \mathbb{A}^1 . We return to $X = \mathbb{A}^1$, \mathbb{A}^k in Sect. 3; we will see there that our approach recovers the well-known index form equations.

Situation 2.1 Let $\pi : S' \to S$ be a finite locally free morphism of constant degree $n \ge 1$ with *S* locally noetherian. Consider a quasiprojective morphism $X \to S$ and write $X':=X \times_S S'$.

The constant degree assumption is for simplicity; the reader may remove it by working separately on each connected component of *S*. In the sequel paper, we will occasionally allow *S* to be an algebraic stack, though the morphism $S' \rightarrow S$ will always be representable. Write (*Sch*/*S*) for the category of *S*-schemes. We now define $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ by describing the functor of maps into it and then showing it is representable.

Definition 2.2 In Situation 2.1, consider the presheaf on (Sch/S) which sends an *S*-scheme $T \rightarrow S$ to the set of morphisms *s* fitting into the diagram:

$$T \to S \mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{c} S' \times_S T & - \cdots & s \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\$$

with restriction given by pullback. Refer to this presheaf either as the *relative hom presheaf* $\underline{\text{Hom}}_{S}(S', X')$ [72, 0D19] or the *Weil Restriction* $\mathcal{R}_{X',S'/S}$ [10, Sect. 7.6].

The sheaf of monogenerators is the subpresheaf

 $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S} \subseteq \mathcal{R}_{X',S'/S}$

whose sections are diagrams exactly as above, but with *s* a closed immersion.

We write $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$, $\mathcal{R}_{k,S'/S}$ for $X = \mathbb{A}_{S}^{k}$, $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} = \mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$, and $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S} = \mathcal{R}_{1,S'/S}$. When $S' \to S$ or X is understood, we may drop "S'/S" or "X" from the notation. If $S' = \operatorname{Spec} B$ and $S = \operatorname{Spec} A$ are affine, we write $\mathcal{M}_{k,B/A}$ or $\mathcal{M}_{B/A}$ instead.

Lemma 1.3 expresses the presheaf $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ as

$$\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}(T) = \left\{ (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k) \in \Gamma(T \times_S S', \mathcal{O}_{T \times_S S'})^{\oplus k} \mid \mathcal{O}_{T \times_S S'} = \mathcal{O}_T[\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k] \right\}$$

An *S*-point of \mathcal{M}_1 is said to be a *monogenerator* of S'/S and we say S'/S is *monogenic* if such a point exists. This recovers the definition of monogenicity of algebras when *S* is affine. These presheaves are representable:

Proposition 2.3 The presheaves $\mathcal{M}_X \subseteq \mathcal{R}_{X',S'/S}$ are both representable by quasiprojective *S*-schemes and the inclusion is a quasicompact open immersion. If $f : X \to S$ is smooth, unramified, or étale, the same is true for $\mathcal{R}_{X',S'/S} \to S$ and $\mathcal{M}_X \to S$.

Proof The Weil Restriction $\Re_{X',S'/S}$ is representable by a scheme quasiprojective over *S* [48, Theorem 1.3, Proposition 2.10]. If $X' \to S'$ is a finite-type affine morphism, the same is true for $\Re_{X',S'/S} \to S$ by locally applying [48, Proposition 2.2(1),(2)]. The inclusion $\mathfrak{M}_X \subseteq \mathfrak{R}_{X',S'/S}$ is open by [72, 05XA] and automatically quasicompact because $\Re_{X',S'/S}$ is locally noetherian. The second statement is immediate.

Corollary 2.4 The presheaves \mathcal{M}_X , $\mathcal{R}_{X',S'/S}$ are sheaves in the Zariski, Nisnevich, étale, *fppf, and fpqc topologies on* (Sch/S).

Definition 2.5 Let τ be a subcanonical Grothendieck topology on schemes, for example the Zariski, Nisnevich, étale, fppf, or fpqc topologies. We say that S'/S is τ -locally k-genic if the sheaf $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ is locally non-empty in the topology τ . I.e., there is a τ -cover $\{U_i \rightarrow S\}_{i \in I}$ of S such that $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}(U_i)$ is non-empty for all $i \in I$. By default, we use the étale topology.

A *k*-genic extension S'/S is τ -locally *k*-genic. If τ_1 is a finer topology than τ_2 , then τ_2 -locally monogenic implies τ_1 -locally monogenic.

Remark 2.6 We pose a related moduli problem \mathscr{F} in Sect. 5 that parameterizes a *choice* of finite locally free map $S' \to S$ together with a monogenerator. It is also representable by a scheme. The mere choice of a finite locally free map $S' \to S$ is representable by an algebraic stack, as shown in [58] and recalled in Sect. 2.2.

Our main example of $S' \to S$ comes from rings of integers in number fields $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$, but here is another:

Example 2.7 Let $S = \text{Spec } \mathbb{Z}$ and $S'_n = \text{Spec } \mathbb{Z}[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n$. The Weil Restriction $\mathcal{R}_{X',S'_n/S}$ is better known as the *jet space* $J_{X,n-1}$ [73]. For any ring A, (n-1)-jets are maps

 $\operatorname{Spec} A[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n \to X.$

Jet spaces are usually considered over a field *k* by base changing from *S*. The monogenicity space $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'_n/S} \subseteq J_{X,n-1}$ parametrizes *embedded* (n-1)-jets, whose map $\operatorname{Spec} A[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n \subseteq X$ is a closed embedding. If n = 2, $J_{X,1}$ is the Zariski tangent bundle and $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'_2/S}$ is the complement of the zero section.

The truncation maps $J_{X,n} \to J_{X,n-1}$ restrict to maps $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'_{n+1}/S} \to \mathcal{M}_{X,S'_n/S}$. The inverse limit $\lim_{n} J_{X,n}$ sends rings A to maps called *arcs*

 $\operatorname{Spec} A[\![t]\!] \to X$

according to [7, Remark 4.6, Theorem 4.1]. Under this identification, the limit $\lim_{n} \mathcal{M}_{X,S'_n/S}$ parametrizes those arcs that are closed immersions into $X \times \text{Spec } A$.

Compare embedded (n - 1)-jets to "regular" ones. An (n - 1)-jet f: Spec $k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n \to X$ over a field k is called *regular* [15, Sect. 5] if $f'(0) \neq 0$. I.e., the truncation of higher order

terms \overline{f} : Spec $k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^2 \to X$ is a closed immersion. Regular (n-1)-jets are precisely the pullback $\mathcal{M}_{X,S_1'/S} \times_{J_{1,X}} J_{X,n}$.

Extensions of number rings are generically étale, with a divisor of ramification. The finite locally free map $S'_n \to S$ in jet spaces is the opposite, ramified everywhere.

Definition 2.8 (Steinitz Classes)

We have assumed that $\pi : S' \to S$ is finite locally free of rank *n*, so $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}$ is a locally free \mathcal{O}_S -module of rank *n*. By taking an *n*th exterior power, one obtains a locally free \mathcal{O}_S -module

$$\det \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'} := \bigwedge^n \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}$$

of rank 1 [44, Chap. II, Exercise 6.11]. The *Steinitz class* of $\pi : S' \to S$ is the isomorphism class of det $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}$ in Pic(*S*).

The Weil Restriction $\mathcal{R}_{k,S'/S}$ is precisely the rank kn vector bundle with sheaf of sections $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}^k$. To see this, recall that the set of T-points of the S-scheme $\mathcal{R}_{k,S'/S}$ is by definition the set of T-morphisms $\{S' \times_S T \to \mathbb{A}_T^k\}$. By the universal property of \mathbb{A}_T^k , such morphisms are in bijection with k-tuples of elements of $\Gamma(T, \mathcal{O}_{S' \times_S T})$. It follows that $\operatorname{Hom}_S(-, \mathcal{R}_{k,S'/S}) \cong (\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'})^k$ as quasicoherent sheaves on S. When $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'} \simeq \bigoplus^n \mathcal{O}_S \cdot e_i$ is trivial, so is $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S}$.

Example 2.9 The Steinitz class of the jet space of \mathbb{A}^k is the trivial vector bundle: $J_{n,\mathbb{A}^k} = \mathbb{A}^{k(n+1)}$ [73, Corollary 5.2].

Remark 2.10 Although \mathbb{A}^1 and hence $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S}$ are ring objects, \mathcal{M}_1 is neither closed under addition nor multiplication. For addition, note that if $\theta \in \mathcal{O}_{S'}$ is a generator, then so is $-\theta$, but $\theta + (-\theta) = 0$ is not for $n \neq 1$.

Lemma 2.11 Let $\theta \in \Gamma(S', \mathfrak{O}_{S'})$ be any element. There is a canonical monic polynomial $m_{\theta}(t) \in \Gamma(S, \mathfrak{O}_S)[t]$ of degree n such that $m_{\theta}(\theta) = 0$.

Proof We begin by constructing $m_{\theta}(t)$ locally, following [4, Proposition 2.4].

Assume first that $\pi : S' \to S$ is such that $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'} \cong \mathcal{O}_S^{\oplus n}$ as an \mathcal{O}_S -module. Choose a $\Gamma(S, \mathcal{O}_S)$ -basis $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ of $\Gamma(S', \mathcal{O}_{S'})$. For each $i = 1, \ldots, n$, write $\theta x_i = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j$ where $a_{ii} \in \Gamma(S', \mathcal{O}_{S'})$. Now we let

 $m_{\theta}(t) = \det(\delta_{ii}t - a_{ii}).$

As in the proof of [4, Proposition 2.4], $m_{\theta}(t)$ has coefficients in $\Gamma(S, \mathcal{O}_S)$, is monic of degree n, and $m_{\theta}(\theta) = 0$. Moreover, $m_{\theta}(t)$ does not depend on the basis chosen since $m_{\theta}(t)$ is computed by a determinant.

Now for general $\pi : S' \to S$, choose an open cover $\{U_i\}$ of S on which $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}$ trivializes. On each open set, the construction of the previous paragraph yields a monic polynomial $m_i(t) \in \mathcal{O}_S(U_i)[t]$ of degree n vanishing on $\theta|_{U_i}$. Since the construction of the polynomials commutes with restriction and is independent of choice of basis, we have

 $m_i(t)|_{U_i\cap U_i}=m_i(t)|_{U_i\cap U_i}.$

We conclude by the sheaf property.

Remark 2.12 Lemma 2.11 defines a map $m : \mathcal{R}_{S'/S} \to \mathbb{A}_S^n$ sending an element $\theta \in \Gamma(S', \mathcal{O}_{S'})$ to the coefficients (b_{n-1}, \ldots, b_0) of the universal canonical monic minimal polynomial

$$m_{\theta}(t) = t^n + b_{n-1}t^{n-1} + \dots + b_0.$$

The preimage of a point of \mathbb{A}^n_S is the set of roots of the corresponding polynomial in $\mathcal{O}_{S'}$.

In the case that $S' \to S$ is a trivial *n*-sheeted cover, i.e. $S' = S \sqcup \cdots \sqcup S$, we may trivialize the vector bundle $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S} \cong \mathbb{A}_S^n$ using the standard basis $\{e_1 = (1, 0, \cdots, 0), e_2 = (0, 1, \cdots, 0), \ldots\}$ of $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_S \cong \mathcal{O}_S \times \cdots \mathcal{O}_S$. It is easy to compute that $m_{\theta}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^n (t - x_i)$ with respect to this basis, so that the coefficients b_i are the elementary symmetric polynomials in the x_i . It follows that the map $m : \mathcal{R}_{S'/S} \to \mathbb{A}_S^n$ is the coarse quotient space for the natural action of the symmetric group Σ_n on the $\{e_i\}$ -coordinates of $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S}$.

If $S' \to S$ is étale, $S' \to S$ is étale locally a trivial cover as above. However, the Σ_n -action need not globalize. For example, consider the 3-power map [3] : $\mathbb{G}_m \to \mathbb{G}_m$ for $S' \to S$. We will consider the situation of $S' \to S$ étale in more depth in the second paper of this series.

2.1 Functoriality of \mathcal{M}_X

We now establish some basic functoriality properties of $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ and compare them with the well-known functoriality properties of the Weil Restriction. Functoriality in *S* (Corollary 2.14) allows us to compute affine charts for $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ zariski locally on *S* in Sect. 3.

Lemma 2.13 Suppose given a commutative square



and an S-scheme X. Let $f : T' \to S' \times_S T$ be the map induced by the universal property of pullback.

Then

1. There is an induced map of T-sheaves

$$\tau_{S,T}: \mathscr{R}_{X,S'/S} \times_S T \to \mathscr{R}_{X_T,T'/T},$$

given on $(U \rightarrow T)$ -points by

$$(U' \xrightarrow{s} X \times_S U) \mapsto (T' \times_T U \xrightarrow{f|_U} U' \xrightarrow{s} X \times_S U \cong X_T \times_T U),$$

where $X_T := X \times_S T$ and $U' := S' \times_S U$.

2. Assume $S' \to S$ and $T' \to T$ both lie in Situation 2.1. If f is a closed immersion, then the map $\tau_{S,T}$ induces a map on sub T-sheaves

$$\rho_{S,T}: \mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S} \times_S T \to \mathcal{M}_{X_T,T'/T}.$$

Proof Omitted.

This simplifies in the case that the diagram is cartesian.

Corollary 2.14 If $S' \rightarrow S$ is as in Situation 2.1 and

$$\begin{array}{ccc} T' & \longrightarrow & S' \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ T & \longrightarrow & S \end{array}$$

is a cartesian square of schemes, then there is a natural isomorphism

 $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S} \times_S T \to \mathcal{M}_{X_T,T'/T}$

Proof The map $f : T' \to S' \times_S T$ is an isomorphism.

If *f* is not a closed immersion, composition with $f|_U$ need not preserve closed immersions. Thus $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ is not functorial for general commutative squares.

Example 2.15 If S = Spec A, $T \to S \leftarrow S'$ are identity maps and $T' \to T$ is non-monogenic then the global sections of $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} \times_S T$ are A, while $\mathcal{M}_{T'/T}$ has no global sections, so there is no map $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} \times_S T \to \mathcal{M}_{T'/T}$.

Example 2.16 If $S' = \bigsqcup S'_i$ is a finite disjoint union of finite locally free maps $S'_i \to S$, the pullback $T \times_S S'$ is the disjoint union $\bigsqcup T \times_S S'_i$. Write $X'_i = X' \times_S S'_i$, it follows from the universal property of coproducts and the above that the Weil Restriction decomposes as

$$\mathscr{R}_{X',S'/S} = \prod_{i} \mathscr{R}_{X'_{i},S'_{i}/S}.$$

The monogenicity space is *not* the product $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S,X} \neq \prod \mathcal{M}_{S'_i/S,X}$. Rather, we claim a map

$$\bigsqcup S'_i \to X$$

is a closed immersion if and only if each map

$$S'_i \to X$$

is a closed immersion and the closed immersions are disjoint:

 $S'_i \times_X S'_i = \emptyset$

for all $i \neq j$. This follows formally from the fact that closed immersions are precisely the proper monomorphisms.

Not only is $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ functorial in *S*, but we show its normalization and reduction can often be performed on *S*:

Lemma 2.17 Let $X \to S$ be smooth and write $T' = T \times_S S'$ for an S-scheme T. If $T \to S$ is the normalization, the map

$$m_{X_T,T'/T} \rightarrow m_{X,S'/S}$$

is also normalization. Likewise, if $T \to S$ is the reduced induced subscheme $S_{red} \subseteq S$, the pullback $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S} \times_S S_{red} \simeq \mathcal{M}_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}}$ is the reduction of $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$.

Proof For the normalization, one uses [72, 03GV] and properties of $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ in Proposition 2.3 to see that $\mathcal{M}_{X_T,T'/T} \to \mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ is also normalization.

Consider the cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{cccc} m_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}} & \longrightarrow & m_{X,S'/S} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow & \\ S_{red} & \longrightarrow & S. \end{array}$$

Being reduced is local in the smooth topology [72, 034E], so $\mathcal{M}_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}}$ is reduced. By the universal property of induced reduced subscheme, the map $\mathcal{M}_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}} \to \mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$ factors uniquely through $(\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S})_{red}$. On the other hand, the map $(\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S})_{red} \to S$ factors uniquely through S_{red} , so there is a unique map $(\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S})_{red} \to \mathcal{M}_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}}$ by the universal property of the pullback. By uniqueness of associated maps we conclude that $\mathcal{M}_{X_{S_{red}},T'/S_{red}} \cong (\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S})_{red}$.

2.2 Relation to the Hilbert scheme

With this section we pause our development of \mathcal{M} to relate our construction to other well-known objects. Though the rest of the paper does not use this section, it behooves us to situate our work in the existing literature.

At the possible cost of representability of $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$, let $X \to S$ be any morphism of schemes in this section. Recall the Hilbert scheme of points [72, 0B94]

 $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X/S}^{n}(T) := \{ \operatorname{closed} \operatorname{embeddings} Z \subseteq X \times_{S} T \mid Z \to T \text{ finite locally free deg. } n \}.$

There is an algebraic moduli stack \mathfrak{A}_n of finite locally free maps of degree n [58, Definition 3.2], with universal finite locally free map $\mathfrak{Z}_n \to \mathfrak{A}_n$. Any map $S' \to S$ in Situation 2.1 is pulled back from $\mathfrak{Z}_n \to \mathfrak{A}_n$. We restrict to *S*-schemes without further mention: $\mathfrak{A}_n = \mathfrak{A}_n \times S$.

Recall Poonen's description of \mathfrak{A}_n : A finite locally free map $\pi : \mathbb{Z} \to T$ is equivalent to the data of a finite locally free \mathcal{O}_T -algebra \mathfrak{Q} given by $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_Z$. Suppose for the sake of exposition that a locally free algebra \mathfrak{Q} has a global basis $\mathfrak{Q} \simeq \mathcal{O}_T^{\oplus n}$. The algebra structure is a multiplication map

 $\mathfrak{Q} \otimes_{\mathfrak{O}_T} \mathfrak{Q} \to \mathfrak{Q}$

that can be written as a matrix using the basis. Conditions of associativity and commutativity are polynomial on the entries of this matrix. We get an affine scheme of finite type \mathfrak{B}_n parametrizing matrices satisfying the polynomial conditions, or equivalently multiplication laws on globally free finite modules [58, Proposition 1.1]. Two different choices of global basis $\mathfrak{O}_T^{\oplus n} \simeq \mathfrak{Q} \simeq \mathfrak{O}_T^{\oplus n}$ differ by an element of $\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathfrak{O}_T)$. Taking the stack quotient by this action $\operatorname{GL}_n \odot \mathfrak{B}_n$ erases the need for a global basis and gives \mathfrak{A}_n .

There is a map $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X/S}^n \to \mathfrak{A}_n$ sending a closed embedding $Z \subseteq X|_T$ to the finite locally free map $Z \to T$. The fibers of this map are exactly monogenicity spaces:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} m_{X,S'/S} & \longrightarrow S \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow^{S'/S} \\ \text{Hilb}_{X/S}^n & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}_n. \end{array}$$

This is because pulling back along the classifying map $S \to \mathfrak{A}_n$ fixes $S' \to S$ as the choice of locally free map $Z \to T$ in the Hilbert scheme.

In turn, the monogenicity space of the universal finite locally free map $\mathfrak{Z}_n \to \mathfrak{A}_n$ is isomorphic to the Hilbert Scheme

$$\mathcal{M}_{X,\mathfrak{Z}_n/\mathfrak{A}_n}\simeq \mathrm{Hilb}_{X/S}^n$$

over \mathfrak{A}_n . The space $\mathfrak{h}_n(\mathbb{A}^k)$ of [58, Sect. 4] is \mathcal{M}_k for the universal finite locally free map to \mathfrak{B}_n .

Proposition 2.3 shows $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}(X) \to S$ is smooth for X smooth, and likewise for unramified or étale. This means the map $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X/S}^n \to \mathfrak{A}_n$ is smooth, unramified, or étale if $X \to S$ is.

Suppose $X \to S$ flat to identify the Chow variety of dimension 0, degree *n* subvarieties of X with SymⁿX [61] and take S equidimensional. The Hilbert-Chow morphism $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X/S}^{equin} \to \operatorname{Sym}^n X$ sending a finite, flat, equidimensional $Z \to S$ to the pushforward of its fundamental class [Z] in Chow $A_*(X)$ restricts to $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S}$. When S'/S is étale, we will see the restriction of the Hilbert-Chow morphism $\mathcal{M}_{X,S'/S} \to \operatorname{Sym}^n X$ is an open embedding by hand in the sequel paper.

Question 2.18 Can known cohomology computations of $Hilb_{X/S}^n$ offer obstructions to monogenicity under this relationship?

3 The local index form and construction of ${\mathcal M}$

This section describes equations for the complement of the monogenicity space $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ inside $\mathcal{R} = \underline{\text{Hom}}_{S}(S', \mathbb{A}^{1})$ by working with the universal homomorphism over \mathcal{R} . In the classical case $\mathbb{Z}_{L}/\mathbb{Z}_{K}$ we recover the well-known *index form equation*. Section 3.1 relates the classical index form to $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} \subseteq \mathcal{R}$, while 3.2 generalizes the equations to *k*-genicity $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$.

See section 4.1 for more examples.

Remark 3.1 (Representable functors) Recall that if a functor $F : \mathbb{C}^{op} \to \text{Set}$ is represented by an object *X*, then there is an element ξ of F(X) corresponding to the identity morphism $X \stackrel{\text{id}}{\to} X$, called the *universal element* of *F*. The proof of the Yoneda lemma shows that for all objects *Y* and elements $y \in F(Y)$, there is a morphism $f_y : Y \to X$ such that *y* is obtained by applying $F(f_y)$ to ξ .

For a map $f : X \to Y$ of schemes, we write $f^{\sharp} : \mathfrak{O}_Y \to f_*\mathfrak{O}_X$ for the map of sheaves and its kin.

3.1 Explicit equations for the scheme m

The scheme $\mathscr{R} = \mathscr{R}_{S'/S} = \operatorname{Hom}_{S}(S', \mathbb{A}^{1})$ is a "moduli space" of maps $S' \to \mathbb{A}^{1}$. For any $T \to S$, every morphism $S' \times_{S} T \to \mathbb{A}^{1}_{T}$ is pulled back along some $T \to \mathscr{R}$ from the *universal homomorphism*



We want explicit equations for the complement of the open embedding $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} \subseteq \mathcal{R}$.

Let *t* be the coordinate function on \mathbb{A}^1 . The map *u* corresponds to an element $\theta = u^{\sharp}(t) \in \Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{S' \times_S \mathcal{R}})$. Let m(t) be the polynomial of Lemma 2.11 for θ , i.e. m(t) is a monic polynomial in $\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{R}})[t]$ of degree *n* such that $m(\theta) = 0$.

Definition 3.2 We call the polynomial m(t) the *universal minimal polynomial* of θ . Let V(m(t)) be the closed subscheme of $\mathbb{A}^1_{\mathcal{B}}$ cut out by m(t).

The universal map *u* factors through this closed subscheme:

$$S' \times_{S} \mathcal{R} \xrightarrow{\nu} V(m(t)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}^{1}_{\mathcal{R}}.$$

$$(3)$$

Since $V(m(t)) \to \mathbb{A}^1_{\mathcal{R}}$ is a closed immersion, the locus in \mathcal{R} over which u restricts to a closed immersion agrees with the locus over which v is a closed immersion.

Remark 3.3 The map $V(m(t)) \to \mathcal{R}$ is finite *globally* free $\tau_* \mathfrak{O}_{V(m(t))} \simeq \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} \mathfrak{O}_{\mathcal{R}} \cdot t^i$. The map $v : S' \times_S \mathcal{R} \to V(m(t))$ comes from a map

$$\nu^{\sharp}:\tau_*\mathcal{O}_{V(m(t))}\to\pi_*\mathcal{O}_{S'\times_S\mathcal{R}}$$

of finite locally free $\mathfrak{O}_{\mathcal{R}}$ -modules. Locally, it is an $n \times n$ matrix. The determinant of this matrix is a unit when it is full rank, i.e. when ν is a closed immersion. The *i*th column is θ^i , written out in terms of the local basis of $\pi_*\mathfrak{O}_{S'\times_S\mathcal{R}}$. We work this out explicitly to get equations for the complement of $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{R}$.

Lemma 2.17 lets us find equations locally. Suppose S' = Spec B and S = Spec A, where $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A \cdot e_i$ is a finite free A-algebra of rank n with basis e_1, \ldots, e_n . Let $I = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Write t for the coordinate function of \mathbb{A}^1 and write x_I as shorthand for n variables x_i indexed by $i \in I$.

The scheme $\Re = \underline{\text{Hom}}_{S}(S', \mathbb{A}^{1})$ is the affine scheme $\mathbb{A}_{S}^{n} = \text{Spec}A[x_{I}]$ and Diagram (3) becomes

The $A[x_I]$ -homomorphism ν^{\sharp} sends

 $t \mapsto \theta := x_1 e_1 + \cdots + x_n e_n.$

Note that $A[x_I, t]/(m(t))$ has an $A[x_I]$ basis given by the equivalence classes of 1, t, \ldots, t^{n-1} and $B[x_I]$ has an $A[x_I]$ -basis given by e_1, \ldots, e_n . With respect to these bases, v^{\sharp} is represented by the *matrix of coefficients*

$$M(e_1, \ldots, e_n) = [a_{ij}]_{1 \le i,j, \le n}.$$
 (4)

where $a_{ij} \in A[x_I]$ are the unique coefficients such that $\theta^{j-1} = \sum_{i=1}^n a_{ij}e_i$ for each j = 1, ..., n.

Definition 3.4 With notation as above, let $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n) = \det(M(e_1, \ldots, e_n)) \in A[x_I]$. We call this element a *local index form* for *S'* over *S*. When the basis is clear from context, we may omit the basis elements from the notation.

Theorem 3.5 Suppose $S' \to S$ is finite free and S is affine. With notation as above, M is the distinguished affine subscheme $D(i(e_1, \ldots, e_n))$ inside $\mathcal{R} \cong \text{Spec } A[x_I]$.

Proof By Proposition 2.3, \mathcal{M} is an open subscheme of \mathcal{R} . Therefore it suffices to check that $D(i(e_1, \ldots, e_n))$ and \mathcal{M} have the same points. Let $j : y \to \mathcal{R}$ be the inclusion of a point

with residue field k(y). Then

j factors through $\mathcal{M} \iff j^* u$ is a closed immersion, where *u* is the univ. hom.

 $\iff j^* v \text{ is a closed immersion, for } v \text{ as in (3)}$ $\iff v^{\sharp} \otimes_A k(y) \text{ is surjective}$ $\iff j^{\sharp}(M(e_1, \dots, e_n)) \text{ is full rank}$ $\iff j^{\sharp}(i(e_1, \dots, e_n)) \text{ is nonzero.}$

This establishes the claim.

Example 3.6 Let S':=Spec $\mathbb{C}^n \to S:=$ Spec \mathbb{C} as in Example 1.5. Let e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n be the standard basis vectors of \mathbb{C}^n . The monogenerators of S' over S are precisely the closed immersions:



Identify $\mathscr{R} \simeq \mathbb{A}_{S}^{n}$. Let *t* denote the coordinate of $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{A}_{S}^{n}}^{1}$, and let $x_{1}, x_{2}, ..., x_{n}$ denote the coordinates of \mathbb{A}_{S}^{n} . The analogue of Diagram (3) for this case is:



We write down $m_{\theta}(t)$, as in Lemma 2.11. The coordinate t of $\mathbb{A}^{1}_{\mathbb{A}^{n}_{S}}$ maps to the universal element $\theta = x_{1}e_{1} + x_{2}e_{2} + \cdots + x_{n}e_{n}$. Since $e_{i} = (\delta_{ij})_{j=1}^{n} \in \mathbb{C}^{n}$, we have $\theta e_{i} = x_{i}e_{i}$. Computing the minimal polynomial, $m_{\theta}(t) = \det(\delta_{ij}t - a_{ij}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} (t - x_{i})$.

Notice that $e_i e_j = \delta_{ij} e_i$. It follows that $\theta^i = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} x_j^i e_j$. Therefore $M(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ is the Vandermonde matrix with *i*th row given by $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & x_i & x_i^2 & \cdots & x_i^{n-1} \end{bmatrix}$.

Remark 3.7 If *B* is a free *A*-algebra with basis $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$, it follows that *B* is monogenic over *A* if and only if there is a solution $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in A^n$ to one of the equations

 $i(e_1,\ldots,e_n)(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=a$

as *a* varies over the units of *A*. These are the well-known *index form equations*. When *A* has only finitely many units (such as when $A = \mathbb{Z}$) this perspective gives the set of *global* monogenerators the flavor of a closed subscheme of \mathcal{R} even though \mathcal{M}_1 is an open subscheme.

Corollary 3.8 The map $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S} \to S$ classifying monogenerators is affine in Situation 2.1.

Proof Theorem 3.5 shows that *S* possesses an affine cover on which $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ restricts to a single distinguished affine subset of the affine scheme $\mathcal{R} = \text{Spec}A[x_I]$.

Lemma 3.9 Consider a local index form $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n) = \det(M(e_1, \ldots, e_n))$ defined by a basis $B \simeq \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} A \cdot e_i$ as above. Suppose $\tilde{e}_1, \ldots, \tilde{e}_n$ is a second basis of B over A and \widetilde{M}

is the matrix representation of v^{\sharp} with respect to the bases $\{1, \ldots, t^{n-1}\}$ and $\{\tilde{e}_1, \ldots, \tilde{e}_n\}$. Then $\det(\tilde{M}) = u \det(M)$ for some unit u of A.

Although the determinant of M may not glue to a global datum on S, this shows the ideal that it generates does.

Lemma 3.10 The local index forms $i(e_1, ..., e_n)$ are homogeneous with respect to the grading on $A[x_I]$. To see this, note that since the ith column of $M(e_1, ..., e_n)$ represents θ^{i-1} , its entries are of degree i - 1 in $x_1, ..., x_n$. The Leibnitz formula for the determinant

$$\det(a_{ij}) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_n} (-1)^{\sigma} \cdot \prod a_{\sigma(i)i}$$

shows that $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ is homogeneous of degree $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (i-1) = \frac{i(i-1)}{2}$. The transition functions induced by change of basis respect this grading, so the index form ideal $\mathcal{G}_{S'/S}$ is a sheaf of homogeneous ideals.

Remark 3.11 We compare our local index form to the classical number theoretic situation. For references see [18] and [24]. If *K* is a number field and *L* is an extension of finite degree *n*, then there are *n* distinct embeddings of *L* into an algebraic closure that fix *K*. Denote them $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$. Let Tr denote the trace from *L* to *K*. The *discriminant* of *L* over *K* is defined to be the ideal Disc(*L*/*K*) generated by the set of elements of the form

$$\left(\det[\sigma_i(\omega_j)]_{1\leq i,j\leq n}\right)^2 = \det\left[\operatorname{Tr}\left(\omega_i\omega_j\right)\right]_{1\leq i,j\leq n}$$

where we vary over all *K*-bases for *L*, { ω_1 , . . . , ω_n }, with each $\omega_i \in \mathbb{Z}_K$. If α is any element of *L*, then the *discriminant* of α over *K* is defined to be

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{L/K}(\alpha) = \left(\det\left(\sigma_i\left(\alpha^{j-1}\right)\right)_{1 \le i,j \le n}\right)^2$$
$$= \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \left(\sigma_i(\alpha) - \sigma_j(\alpha)\right)^2,$$

where the second equality comes from Vandermonde's identity. Note that $\text{Disc}_{L/K}(\alpha)$ is a power of the discriminant of the minimal polynomial of α . For every α generating L over K one has

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{L/K}(\alpha) = [\mathbb{Z}_L : \mathbb{Z}_K[\alpha]]^2 \operatorname{Disc}(L/K).$$

One defines the *index form* of \mathbb{Z}_L over \mathbb{Z}_K be to

$$\operatorname{Index}_{\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K}(\alpha) = [\mathbb{Z}_L : \mathbb{Z}_K[\alpha]] = \sqrt{\left|\frac{\operatorname{Disc}_{L/K}(\alpha)}{\operatorname{Disc}(L/K)}\right|}.$$

Compare this with [18, Eq. 5.2.2]. In the case where $\{\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n\}$ is a \mathbb{Z}_K -basis for \mathbb{Z}_L , employing some linear algebra [18, Eq. (1.5.3)], one finds $\operatorname{Index}_{\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K}$ is, up to an element of \mathbb{Z}_K^* , the determinant of the change of basis matrix from $\{\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n\}$ to $\{1, \alpha, \ldots, \alpha^{n-1}\}$.

The matrix in Eq. (4) is just such a matrix and its determinant coincides up to a unit with the index form in situations where the index form is typically defined. The generality of our setup affords us some flexibility that is not immediate from the definition of the classical index form equation. The local index forms give the complement of $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ in $\mathcal{R}_{S'/S}$ a closed subscheme structure.

Definition 3.12 (*Non-monogenerators* $\mathcal{N}_{S'/S}$) Let $\mathcal{I}_{S'/S}$ be the ideal sheaf on \mathcal{R} generated locally by local index forms. We call this the *index form ideal*. Let $\mathcal{N}_{S'/S}$ be the closed subscheme of \mathcal{R} cut out by the vanishing of $\mathcal{I}_{S'/S}$. We call this the *scheme of non-monogenerators*, since its support is the complement of $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S}$ inside of \mathcal{R} .

Lemma 3.9 implies that $g_{S'/S}$ is locally principal, and Lemma 3.10 shows that it is naturally homogeneous.

Theorem 3.13 When the scheme of non-monogenerators $N_{S'/S}$ is an effective Cartier divisor (equivalently, when none of the local index forms are zero divisors), the divisor class of $N_{S'/S}$ in $\mathcal{R} = \underline{Hom}_{S}(S', \mathbb{A}^{1})$ is the same as the pullback of the Steinitz class of S'/S from S.

Proof Recall that V(m(t)) is the vanishing of m(t) in $\mathbb{A}^1_{\mathcal{R}}$, where m(t) is the generic minimal polynomial for S'/S. Let τ be the natural map $\tau : V(m(t)) \to \mathcal{R}$. Consider the morphism

 $\nu^{\sharp}: \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{V(m(t))} \to \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S' \times_S \mathcal{R}}$

of sheaves on \mathcal{R} . The first sheaf is free of rank *n* since m(t) is a monic polynomial: there is a basis given by the images of 1, *t*, ..., t^{n-1} . Therefore, taking *n*th wedge products in the previous equation, we have a map

$$\det(\nu^{\sharp}) \mathfrak{O}_{\mathcal{R}} \cong \det(\tau_* \mathfrak{O}_{V(m(t))}) \to \det\left(\pi_* \mathfrak{O}_{S' \times_S \mathfrak{R}}\right).$$

By construction, this map is locally given by a local index form, $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$. Since we have assumed that $\mathcal{N}_{S'/S}$ is an effective Cartier divisor, $\det(\nu^{\sharp})$ is injective. Therefore, the $\det(\nu^{\sharp})$ identifies a non-zero section of $\det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_{S'\times_S\mathcal{R}})$. By definition of $\mathcal{N}_{S'/S}$, we may identify $\det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_{S'\times_S\mathcal{R}})$ with $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}_{S'/S})$.

Writing $\psi : \mathcal{R} \to S$ for the structure map, we also have that

$$\det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_{S'\times_S\mathcal{R}})\cong\psi^*\det(\pi_*\mathscr{O}_{S'})$$

since taking a determinental line bundle commutes with arbitrary base change and π_* commutes with base change for finite flat maps. The class of the line bundle det($\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{S'}$) in Pic(*S*) is by definition the Steinitz class.

3.2 Explicit equations for polygenerators \mathcal{M}_k

The work above readily generalizes to describe \mathcal{M}_k .

Fix a number $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We now construct explicit equations for the complement of \mathcal{M}_k as a subscheme of $\mathcal{R}_k = \underline{\text{Hom}}_S(S', \mathbb{A}^k)$ when $S' \to S$ is free and S is affine. These hypotheses hold Zariski locally on S, so by Lemma 2.17, this gives a construction for \mathcal{M}_k locally on S in the general case.

Let $S' = \operatorname{Spec} B$ and $S = \operatorname{Spec} A$, where $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A \cdot e_i$ is a finite free A-algebra of rank n with basis e_1, \ldots, e_n . Let $J = \{1, \ldots, k\}$ and $I = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Write t_J for the |J| coordinate functions t_1, \ldots, t_k of \mathbb{A}^k and write $x_{I \times J}$ as shorthand for $|I \times J|$ variables x_{ij} indexed by $(i, j) \in I \times J$.

The scheme \mathcal{R}_k is represented by the affine scheme $\operatorname{Spec} A[x_{I \times J}]$ and the universal map for \mathcal{R}_k is the commutative triangle



where the horizontal arrow *u* is induced by the ring map $A[x_{I \times I}, t_I] \rightarrow B[x_{I \times I}]$ sending

$$t_j \mapsto \theta_j := \sum_{i \in I} x_{ij} e_i$$

Notice that $S' \times_S \mathcal{R}_k \to \mathcal{R}_k$ is in Situation 2.1. Apply Lemma 2.11 to find monic degree n polynomials $m_j(t_j) \in A[x_{I \times J}, t_J]$ such that $m_j(\theta_j) = 0$ in $B[x_{I \times J}]$. Write ν^{\sharp} for the unique map

$$v^{\sharp} : A[x_{I \times J}, t_J]/(m_j(t_j) : j \in J) \longrightarrow B[x_{I \times J}]$$

factoring $u^{\sharp} : A[x_{I \times J}, t_J] \to B[x_{I \times J}]$.

Now, $A[x_{I\times J}, t_J]/(m_j(t_j) : j \in J)$ is a free $A[x_{I\times J}]$ -module of rank n^k with basis given by the equivalence classes of the products $t_1^{r_1} \cdots t_k^{r_k}$ as the powers r_j vary between 0 and n-1. Since $B[x_{I\times J}]$ is also a free $A[x_{I\times J}]$ -module with basis e_1, \ldots, e_n , we may choose an ordering of the powers $t_1^{r_1} \cdots t_k^{r_k}$ and represent the map v^{\sharp} by an $n^k \times n$ matrix M. Now, u is a closed immersion if and only if v^{\sharp} is surjective, which is equivalent in turn to the condition that M has maximal rank. We check this condition using the following procedure: For each subset $C \subseteq \{1, \ldots, kn\}$ of size n, let M_C be the submatrix of M whose columns are indexed by C and let det (M_C) be the determinant.

Theorem 3.14 Suppose $S' \to S$ is finite free and S is affine. Then with notation as above, M_k is the union of the distinguished affines $D(\det(M_C))$ inside Y.

Proof Check on points as in Theorem 3.5.

4 Examples of the scheme of monogenerators

We conclude with several examples to illustrate the nature and variety of the scheme of monogenerators. We will consider situations in which the classical index form of Remark 3.11 is well-studied, such as field extensions and extensions of number rings, as well as the more exotic situation of jet spaces. We will make frequent reference to computation of the index form using the techniques of Sect. 3.1.

4.1 First examples

Example 4.1 (Quadratic Number Fields) Let $K = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$, for any square-free integer d. It is well-known that the ring of integers \mathbb{Z}_K is monogenic: $\mathbb{Z}_L \cong \mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{d}]$ or $\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1+\sqrt{d}}{2}]$, depending on $d \mod 4$. We will confirm this using our framework, and determine the scheme \mathcal{M}_1 of monogenic generators.

Let α denote the known generator of \mathcal{O}_L , either \sqrt{d} or $\frac{1+\sqrt{d}}{2}$. Let us take $\{1, \alpha\}$ as the basis e_1, \ldots, e_n . The universal map diagram (3) becomes:

where the map $\mathbb{Z}[a, b, t]/(m(t)) \to \mathbb{Z}[a, b, \alpha]$ is given by $t \mapsto a + b\alpha$, i.e. *a* is coefficient of 1 and *b* is the coefficient of α . The universal minimal polynomial m(t) is given by $t^2 - \operatorname{Tr}(a + b\alpha)t + \operatorname{N}(a + b\alpha)$.

This diagram encapsulates all choices of generators as follows. The elements of $\mathbb{Z}[\alpha]$ are all of the form $a_0 + b_0 \alpha$ for $a_0, b_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. Integers $a_0, b_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ are in bijection with maps $\phi : \mathbb{Z}[a, b] \to \mathbb{Z}$ sending $a \mapsto a_0, b \mapsto b_0$. Applying the functor $\mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\phi, \mathbb{Z}[a, b]} -$ to the diagram above yields a diagram

$$\mathbb{Z}[\alpha] \xleftarrow{} \mathbb{Z}[t]/(m(t)) \xleftarrow{} \mathbb{Z}[t]$$

where the map $\mathbb{Z}[t]/(m(t)) \to \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]$ takes $t \mapsto a_0 + b_0 \alpha$. The image is precisely $\mathbb{Z}[a_0 + b_0 \alpha]$, and the index form that we are about to compute detects whether this is all of $\mathbb{Z}[\alpha]$.

Returning to the universal situation, the matrix representation of the map $\mathbb{Z}[a, b, t]/(m(t)) \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}[a, b, \alpha]$ (what we have been calling the matrix of coefficients (4)) is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & b \end{bmatrix}.$$

Notice that we did not need to compute m(t) to get this matrix. The determinant, b, is the local index form associated to the basis $\{1, \alpha\}$. Therefore $\mathcal{M}_1 \cong \mathbb{Z}[a, b, b^{-1}]$. Taking \mathbb{Z} -points of \mathcal{M}_1 , we learn that $a + b\alpha$ $(a, b \in \mathbb{Z})$ is a monogenic generator precisely when b is a unit, i.e. $b = \pm 1$.

Proposition 4.5 generalizes this example to any degree-two $S' \rightarrow S$, always finite locally free.

Example 4.2 In Example 3.6, the local index form with respect to the basis e_1, \ldots, e_n is the Vandermonde determinant:

$$i(e_1,\ldots,e_n)(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=\pm\prod_{i< j}(x_i-x_j)$$

Therefore $\mathcal{M}_{S'/S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n, (\prod_{i < j} (x_i - x_j))^{-1}]$. Inverting $(x_i - x_j)$ requires the *n* points to be distinct, describing the configuration space $\operatorname{Conf}_n(\mathbb{C})$. The claim of Example 1.5 follows.

Example 4.3 (Jets in \mathbb{A}^1) Let $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}$ and $S'_n = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n$, as in Example 2.7. We explicitly describe $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'_n/S} \subseteq \mathcal{R} = J_{n-1,\mathbb{A}^1}$.

Choose the basis 1, ϵ , ..., ϵ^{n-1} for $\mathbb{Z}[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n$. With respect to this basis, we may write the universal map diagram as

where $t \mapsto x_1 + x_2 \epsilon + \dots + x_n \epsilon^{n-1}$.

Change coordinates by $t \mapsto t - x_1$ so that the image of t is

$$t \mapsto \theta = x_2 \epsilon + \dots + x_n \epsilon^{n-1}.$$

	1	-						-	
		1	0	0	0	0	•••	0	
	$M_n =$	0	x_2	0	0	0		0	
		0	x_3	x_{2}^{2}	0	0		0	
		0	x_4	$2x_2x_3$	x_{2}^{3}	0		0	
		0	x_5	$2x_2x_4 + x_3^2$	$3x_2^2x_3$	x_2^4		0	
		÷	÷	÷	:	÷	·	÷	
		0	x_n					x_2^{n-1}	
Fig. 1 The matrix determined by an $(n - 1)$ -jet									

This makes the minimal polynomial easy to compute: it must be $m(t) = t^n$, since θ^n vanishes and t^n is monic of degree n. Our next task is to compute the representation of θ^j in $\{1, \epsilon, ..., \epsilon^{n-1}\}$ -coordinates for j = 0, ..., n - 1. The multinomial theorem yields

$$(x_{2}\epsilon + x_{3}\epsilon^{2} + \dots + x_{n}\epsilon^{n-1})^{j} = \sum_{i_{2}+i_{3}+\dots+i_{n}=j} {j \choose i_{2},\dots,i_{n}} \prod_{t=2}^{n} x_{t}^{i_{t}}\epsilon^{(t-1)i_{t}}$$

The coefficient of ϵ^p is

$$\sum_{\substack{i_{2}+i_{3}+\cdots+i_{n}=j\\i_{2}+2i_{3}+\cdots(n-1)i_{n}=p}} {j \choose i_{2},\ldots,i_{n}} \prod_{t=2}^{n} x_{t}^{i_{t}}$$

The matrix of coefficients in Fig. 1 represents the $\mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ -linear map from $\mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_n, t]/(m(t))$ to $\mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_n, \epsilon]/\epsilon^n = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_n] \cdot \epsilon^i$. The coefficient of ϵ^p above appears in the (j + 1)st column and (p + 1)st row.

Since M_n is lower triangular, it has determinant $x_2^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}}$. An (n-1)-jet thereby belongs to $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{A}^1, S'_n/S}$ if and only if the coefficient x_2 is a unit. The x_i are naturally coordinates of the jet space, yielding $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{A}^1, S'_n/S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_n, x_2^{-1}] \subseteq \mathcal{R}_{S'_n/S} = J_{n-1, \mathbb{A}^1}$.

The scheme of *k*-generators \mathcal{M}_k need not be affine. Even for the Gaussian integers $\mathbb{Z}[i]/\mathbb{Z}$, we have that $\mathcal{M}_k = \mathbb{A}^k \times (\mathbb{A}^k \setminus \{\vec{0}\})$. We prove this in Proposition 4.5, after a small lemma. The second factor begs to be quotiented by group actions of \mathbb{G}_m , Σ_n , or GL_n : doing so leads to the notion of twisted monogenicity considered in the sequel paper.

Lemma 4.4 Consider $S' \to S$ in Situation 2.1. Locally on S, the ring $\mathbb{O}_{S'}$ has an \mathbb{O}_S -basis in which one basis element is 1.

Proof Omitted.

Proposition 4.5 Suppose $S' \to S$ in Situation 2.1 has degree 2 and let $\vec{0} \in \mathbb{A}_S^k$ be the zero section. Then affine locally on S we have an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S} \cong \mathbb{A}_S^k \times (\mathbb{A}_S^k \setminus \vec{0}).$$

Proof Working affine locally and applying Lemma 4.4, we may take $S' = \operatorname{Spec} B$ and $S = \operatorname{Spec} A$, where *B* has an *A*-basis of the form $\{1, e\}$. Write b_1, \ldots, b_k for the coordinates on the second \mathbb{A}_S^k , so $\vec{0} = V(b_1, \ldots, b_k) \subseteq \mathbb{A}_S^k$.

In the notation preceding Theorem 3.14, we may take $x_{i,1} = a_i, x_{i,2} = b_i$, and $t_i \mapsto a_i + b_i e$. The matrix of coefficients will have columns given by the $\{1, e\}$ -basis representation of the images of 1, t_i , and $t_i t_j$ as i, j vary over distinct integers in $\{1, \ldots, k\}$. Write $e^2 = c + de$ where $c, d \in A$. Then the column of the matrix representing 1 is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
,

the columns representing the images of the t_i are

$$\begin{bmatrix} a_i \\ b_i \end{bmatrix},$$

and the columns representing the images of $t_i t_j$ are

$$egin{bmatrix} a_ia_j+b_ib_jc\ a_ib_j+a_jb_i+b_ib_jd \end{bmatrix}$$

Among the determinants of the 2 \times 2 minors of this matrix are b_1, \ldots, b_k , coming from the submatrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & a_i \\ 0 & b_i \end{bmatrix}$$

The remaining determinants all lie in the ideal (b_1, \ldots, b_k) since all elements of the second row of the matrix lie in this ideal. We conclude by Theorem 3.14 that $\mathcal{M}_{k,S'/S}$ is the union of the open subsets $D(b_i)$ of Spec $A[a_1, b_1, \ldots, a_k, b_k]$, as required.

As an alternative to taking the union of k-determinants, we can use a generalization of the determinant first introducted by Cayley, later rediscovered and generalized by Gel'fand, Kapranov and Zelevinsky:

Question 4.6 The map v^{\sharp} above is a multilinear map from the tensor product of k free modules $A[x_{I\times J}, t_j]/m_j(t_j)$ of rank n over $A[x_{I\times J}]$ to the rank-n free module $B[x_{I\times J}]$. For $k = 1, M_1$ is the complement of the determinant of v^{\sharp} . In general, the map v^{\sharp} is locally given by a hypermatrix of format (n - 1, ..., n - 1) [56]. This $n \times n \times \cdots \times n$ -hypercube of elements of $A[x_{I\times J}]$ describes a multilinear map the same way ordinary $n \times n$ matrices describe a linear map. What locus does the hyperdeterminant cut out in \mathcal{R}_k ?

Example 4.16 addresses the case k = 2 for jet spaces.

4.2 Field extensions

When $S' = \operatorname{Spec} L \to S = \operatorname{Spec} K$ is induced by a field extension L/K, we know that the monogenic generators of L over K are precisely the elements of L that do not belong to any proper subfield of L. Therefore, on the level of K-points of \mathcal{M}_1 , we can expect to see that the index form vanishes on precisely the proper subfields of L. However, it has further structure that is better seen after extension to a larger field.

Example 4.7 [A $\mathbb{Z}/2 \times \mathbb{Z}/2$ field extension] Let $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}$ and $S' = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3})$. The isomorphism of groups $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}) \cong \mathbb{Q} \oplus \mathbb{Q}\sqrt{2} \oplus \mathbb{Q}\sqrt{3} \oplus \mathbb{Q}\sqrt{6}$ identifies the Weil Restriction $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})/\mathbb{Q}}$ and its universal maps with Spec of



Hence $\Re_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})/\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q}[a, b, c, d]$ and the universal morphism

$$u: S' \times_S \mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})/\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{A}^1_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})/\mathbb{Q}}}$$

is induced by

$$t \mapsto a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6}$$

We expand the images of the powers 1, t, t^2 , t^3 to find the matrix of coefficients

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^{2} + 2b^{2} + 3c^{2} + 6d^{2} \ a^{3} + 6ab^{2} + 9ac^{2} + 36bcd + 18ad^{2} \\ 0 \ b \ 2ab + 6cd \ 3a^{2}b + 2b^{3} + 9bc^{2} + 18acd + 18bd^{2} \\ 0 \ c \ 2ac + 4bd \ 3a^{2}c + 6b^{2}c + 3c^{3} + 12abd + 18cd^{2} \\ 0 \ d \ 2bc + 2ad \ 6abc + 3a^{2}d + 6b^{2}d + 9c^{2}d + 6d^{3} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5)

We compute the local index form associated to our chosen basis by taking the determinant:

$$i(a, b, c, d) = -8b^4c^2 + 12b^2c^4 + 16b^4d^2 - 36c^4d^2 - 48b^2d^4 + 72c^2d^4$$
$$= -4(2b^2 - 3c^2)(b^2 - 3d^2)(c^2 - 2d^2).$$

Note that this determinant has degree 6. Dropping subscripts, the factorization implies that the closed subscheme of non-generators \mathcal{N} inside $\mathcal{R} \cong \mathbb{A}^4_{\mathbb{Q}}$ has three components of degree 2. We remark that if \mathbb{Q} is replaced by a field of characteristic 2, then the index form vanishes and the extension fails to be monogenic.

Consider the Q-points of $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S} = \mathcal{R} - \mathcal{N}$. These are in bijection with the elements $a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6} \in \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})$ where *a*, *b*, *c*, *d* are in Q and the index form does not vanish. Equivalently,

$$2b^2 - 3c^2 \neq 0$$
, $b^2 - 3d^2 \neq 0$, and $c^2 - 2d^2 \neq 0$.

Let $\theta = a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6}$ for some $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Q}$ and consider what it would mean to fail one of these conditions. If $2b^2 - 3c^2 = 0$ for $b, c \in \mathbb{Q}$, it must be that b = c = 0. Then $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{6})$, a proper subfield of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3})$. Similarly, if $b^2 - 3d^2 = 0$ then $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{3})$, and if $c^2 - 2d^2 = 0$ then $\theta \in \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2})$. It follows that the \mathbb{Q} -points of $\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}$ are in bijection with the elements of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3})$ that do not lie in a proper subfield, as we expect from field theory.

This example is not monogenic if \mathbb{Q} is replaced by \mathbb{Z} because of problems in characteristic 2. See Example 4.13 for an analysis of the monogenicity of some orders contained in the field considered above.

Example 4.8 [A $\mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z}$ -extension] Let $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}(i)$ and $S' = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}(i, \sqrt[4]{2})$. We have a global $\mathbb{Q}(i)$ -basis $\{1, \sqrt[4]{2}, \sqrt{2}, \sqrt[4]{2}^3\}$ for $\mathbb{Q}(i, \sqrt[4]{2})$ over $\mathbb{Q}(i)$. We may use this basis to write

 $\mathscr{R} \cong \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}(i)[a, b, c, d]$ where the universal map from \mathbb{A}^1 is $t \mapsto a + b\sqrt[4]{2} + c\sqrt{2} + d(\sqrt[4]{2})^3$. The matrix of coefficients is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^2 + 2c^2 + 4bd \ a^3 + 6b^2c + 6ac^2 + 12abd + 12cd^2 \\ 0 \ b \ 2ab + 4cd \ 3a^2b + 6bc^2 + 6b^2d + 12acd + 4d^3 \\ 0 \ c \ b^2 + 2ac + 2d^2 \ 3ab^2 + 3a^2c + 2c^3 + 12bcd + 6ad^2 \\ 0 \ d \ 2bc + 2ad \ b^3 + 6abc + 3a^2d + 6c^2d + 6bd^2 \end{bmatrix}$$

The determinant yields the local index form with respect to this basis:

$$(b^2 - 2d^2)(b^4 + 8c^4 - 16bc^2d + 4b^2d^2 + 4d^4)$$

We note that the first factor vanishes for *a*, *b*, *c*, $d \in \mathbb{Q}(i)$ when $a + b\sqrt[4]{2} + c\sqrt{2} + d\sqrt[4]{2}^3 \in \mathbb{Q}(i, \sqrt{2})$. At first glance the second factor is more mysterious, but after adjoining enough elements, the entire index form factors into distinct linear terms:

$$(b - \sqrt{2}d)(b + \sqrt{2}d)(ib - (1 + i)\sqrt[4]{2}c + \sqrt{2}d)(-ib - (1 - i)\sqrt[4]{2}c + \sqrt{2}d)$$

 $\cdot (-ib + (1 - i)\sqrt[4]{2}c + \sqrt{2}d)(ib + (1 + i)\sqrt[4]{2}c + \sqrt{2}d).$

This behavior of factorization into distinct linear factors occurs in general:

Proposition 4.9 Let $S' \to S$ be induced by a finite separable extension of fields L/K. Let e_1, \ldots, e_n be a K-basis for L, and let x_1, \ldots, x_n be the corresponding coordinates for \mathcal{R} . Then the local index form $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ factors completely into distinct linear factors in x_1, \ldots, x_n over the normal closure \tilde{L} of L/K.

Compare this with Example 4.2. There, monogenerators correspond to configurations of *n* points in \mathbb{A}^1 and the distinct linear factors of $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ correspond to when pairs of points collide. Here the situation is the same except a separable field extension—geometrically, an étale localization—is required first. This étale local characterization of monogenerators is common to all étale $S' \to S$, a case that we will examine in more depth in the sequel paper.

Some interesting and useful specifics in the case of number fields are investigated in more depth in chapter 7 of [24].

Proof We may consider $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ as an element of $\tilde{L}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ by pulling back to $\mathcal{R}_{L/K} \times_S \operatorname{Spec} \tilde{L} \cong \mathcal{R}_{L \otimes_K \tilde{L}/\tilde{L}}$. Our strategy is to compute a second generator of the pullback of $\mathcal{G}_{S'/S}$ with respect to a more convenient basis.

By the Chinese remainder theorem, $L \otimes_K \tilde{L} \cong \prod_{i=1}^n \tilde{L}$. Let $\tilde{e}_1, \ldots, \tilde{e}_n$ be the standard basis of $(\tilde{L})^n$, let $\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_n$ be the corresponding coordinates on $\mathcal{R}_{L\otimes_K \tilde{L}/\tilde{L}} \simeq \mathcal{R}_{\tilde{L}^n/\tilde{L}}$, and let $\tilde{\theta} = \tilde{x}_1 \tilde{e}_1 + \cdots + \tilde{x}_n \tilde{e}_n$. Computing a matrix M for the map $L[\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_n, t]/m(t) \to \tilde{L}[\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_n]$ sending $t \mapsto \tilde{\theta}$, we see that it is a Vandermonde matrix with factors $\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_n$, since

$$(\tilde{x}_1\tilde{e}_1+\cdots+\tilde{x}_n\tilde{e}_n)^k=\tilde{x}_1^k\tilde{e}_1+\cdots\tilde{x}_n^k\tilde{e}_n$$

when computed in the product ring $(\tilde{L})^n$. Therefore $|i(\tilde{e}_1, \ldots, \tilde{e}_n)| = |\det(M)| = |\prod_{i < j} (\tilde{x}_i - \tilde{x}_j)|$. Applying the \tilde{L} -linear change of basis from $\{\tilde{x}_i\}$ to $\{x_i\}$, we see that $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ is a product of distinct linear factors in x_1, \ldots, x_n .

The proposition above does not consider inseparable extensions. To see what can happen then, we begin with an example. *Example 4.10* [A purely inseparable extension] For $\mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)[\beta]/(\beta^3 - \alpha)$ over $\mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)$, write *a*, *b*, *c* for the universal coefficients of the basis 1, β , β^2 . In other words, $\theta = a + b\beta + c\beta^2$. One computes that the index form is then

 $b^3 - c^3 \alpha$.

To find the monogenic generators of this extension, we look for $a, b, c \in \mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)$ so that $b^3 - c^3 \alpha \neq 0$. Clearly, at least one of *b*, *c* must be nonzero. Choose *b*, *c* arbitrarily so that one is nonzero. Is this enough to ensure we have a monogenerator?

Suppose first that $b \neq 0$. Then $b^3 - c^3 \alpha = 0$ implies $c \in \mathbb{F}_3(\beta) \setminus \mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)$, a contradiction. Symmetrically, if $c \neq 0$ and $b^3 - c^3 \alpha = 0$, then $b \in \mathbb{F}_3(\beta) \setminus \mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)$, a contradiction again. We conclude that the set of monogenerators is

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,S'/S}(\mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)) = \{a + b\beta + c\beta^2 \mid a, b, c \in \mathbb{F}_3(\alpha) \text{ and } (b, c) \neq (0, 0)\}.$$
$$= \mathbb{F}_3(\beta) \setminus \mathbb{F}_3(\alpha),$$

as one expects from field theory.

The polynomial $b^3 - c^3 \alpha$ is irreducible in $\mathbb{F}_3(\alpha)[a, b, c]$, so the scheme of non-generators \mathcal{N} is an irreducible subscheme of $\mathcal{R} \simeq \mathbb{A}^3$. However, \mathcal{N} is not geometrically reduced: after base extension to $\mathbb{F}_3(\beta)$, the index form factors as $(b - c\beta)^3$.

The factorization noted above is not an isolated phenomenon:

Proposition 4.11 Let $S' \to S$ be induced by a degree $n:=p^m$ completely inseparable extension of fields $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})/K$. Then over $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})$, the local index form factors into a repeated linear factor of multiplicity p^m .

Proof Consider the local index form $i(e_1, ..., e_n)$ as an element of $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[x_1, ..., x_n]$ by pulling back to

$$\mathscr{R}_{K(\alpha^{1/p^m})/K} \times_S S' \cong \mathscr{R}_{K(\alpha^{1/p^m}) \otimes_K K(\alpha^{1/p^m})/K(\alpha^{1/p^m})}.$$

Once again, to arrive at the result, we will compute a second generator of the pull back of $\mathcal{G}_{S'/S}$ with respect to another basis.

By the Chinese remainder theorem,

$$K(\alpha^{1/p^m}) \otimes_K K(\alpha^{1/p^m}) \cong K[t]/(t^{p^m} - \alpha) \otimes_K K(\alpha^{1/p^m})$$
$$\cong K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[t]/((t - \alpha^{1/p^m})^{p^m})$$
$$\cong K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[\epsilon]/\epsilon^{p^m},$$

where $\epsilon = t - \alpha^{1/p^m}$.

Let $b_1 = 1, b_2 = \epsilon, \ldots, b_{p^m} = \epsilon^{p^m-1}$ be a basis for $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[\epsilon]/\epsilon^{p^m}$ over $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})$, and let y_1, \ldots, y_n be corresponding coordinates on $\mathcal{R}_{K(\alpha^{1/p^m})/K} \times_S S'$. We are now in the situation of Example 4.3. Following the calculation there, we do a second change of coordinates to the basis $c_1 = 1, c_2 = \epsilon - y_1, \ldots, c_n = (\epsilon - y_1)^{n-1}$ and let z_1, \ldots, z_n be the corresponding coordinates on $\mathcal{R}_{K(\alpha^{1/p^m})/K} \times_S S'$. Taking the determinant of the matrix M of the map $K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[z_1, \ldots, z_n, t]/m(t) \to K(\alpha^{1/p^m})[\epsilon][z_1, \ldots, z_n]/\epsilon^{p^m}$ sending $t \mapsto z_1c_1 + \cdots + z_nc_n$ with respect to the bases $\{1, \ldots, t^{n-1}\}$ and $\{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$, we obtain

$$i(c_1,\ldots,c_n)=z_2^{\left(\frac{p^m(p^m-1)}{2}\right)}.$$

Applying the change of basis from $\{z_1, \ldots, z_n\}$ to $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$, we see that $i(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$ is a power of a linear term.

4.3 Orders in number rings

Example 4.12 [Dedekind's Non-Monogenic Cubic Field] Let η denote a root of the polynomial $X^3 - X^2 - 2X - 8$ and consider the field extension $L:=\mathbb{Q}(\eta)$ over $K:=\mathbb{Q}$. When Dedekind constructed this example [14] it was the first example of a non-monogenic extension of number rings. Indeed two generators are necessary to generate $\mathbb{Z}_L/\mathbb{Z}_K$: take η^2 and $\frac{\eta+\eta^2}{2}$, for example. In fact, $\{1, \frac{\eta+\eta^2}{2}, \eta^2\}$ is a \mathbb{Z} -basis for \mathbb{Z}_L . The matrix of coefficients with respect to the basis $\{1, \frac{\eta+\eta^2}{2}, \eta^2\}$ is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^{2} + 6b^{2} + 16bc + 8c^{2} \\ 0 \ b \ 2ab + 7b^{2} + 24bc + 20c^{2} \\ 0 \ c \ -2b^{2} + 2ac - 8bc - 7c^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

Taking its determinant, the index form associated to this basis is

$$-2b^3 - 15b^2c - 31bc^2 - 20c^3$$

Were the extension monogenic, we would be able to find *a*, *b*, *c* $\in \mathbb{Z}$ so that the index form above is equal to ± 1 .

To see that there are no solutions, we may reduce the index form modulo 2 to obtain

$$b^2c + bc^2$$
.

Iterating through the four possible values of $(b, c) \in (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^2$ shows that the index form always to reduces to 0.

Example 4.13 (A non-monogenic order and monogenic maximal order)

Consider the extension $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}]$ of \mathbb{Z} . This extension is similar to Example 4.7, but with rings instead of fields.

Note also that $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}]$ is not the maximal order of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3})$. As we will see below, the maximal order is $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{\sqrt{3}+2}]$. The isomorphism of groups $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}] \simeq \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\sqrt{2} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\sqrt{3} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\sqrt{6}$ identifies the Weil Restriction $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3}]/\mathbb{Z}}$ and its universal maps with Spec of

$$\mathbb{Z}[a, b, c, d][\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}] \xleftarrow{a+b\sqrt{2}+c\sqrt{3}+d\sqrt{6} \leftrightarrow t} \mathbb{Z}[a, b, c, d][t]$$

$$\mathbb{Z}[a, b, c, d]$$

Now,

$$1 \mapsto 1$$

$$t \mapsto a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6}$$

$$t^{2} \mapsto (a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6})^{2}$$

$$t^{3} \mapsto (a + b\sqrt{2} + c\sqrt{3} + d\sqrt{6})^{3}$$

is given by the same matrix 5 as in Example 4.7:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^{2} + 2b^{2} + 3c^{2} + 6d^{2} \ a^{3} + 6ab^{2} + 9ac^{2} + 36bcd + 18ad^{2} \\ 0 \ b \ 2ab + 6cd \ 3a^{2}b + 2b^{3} + 9bc^{2} + 18acd + 18bd^{2} \\ 0 \ c \ 2ac + 4bd \ 3a^{2}c + 6b^{2}c + 3c^{3} + 12abd + 18cd^{2} \\ 0 \ d \ 2bc + 2ad \ 6abc + 3a^{2}d + 6b^{2}d + 9c^{2}d + 6d^{3} \end{bmatrix}$$

Taking the determinant, the index form with respect to our chosen basis is

$$-8b^4c^2 + 12b^2c^4 + 16b^4d^2 - 36c^4d^2 - 48b^2d^4 + 72c^2d^4$$
$$= -4(2b^2 - 3c^2)(b^2 - 3d^2)(c^2 - 2d^2).$$

The \mathbb{Z} -points of $\mathcal{M}_{1,\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3}]/\mathbb{Z}}$ are in bijection with the tuples $(a, b, c, d) \in \mathbb{Z}^4$ such that the determinant is a unit. Since the determinant is divisible by 2, this never happens. We conclude that $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3}]$ is not monogenic over \mathbb{Z} .

The non-monogenicity of the order $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}]$ is in marked contrast to the maximal order of $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3})$, which is monogenic. A computation shows that a power integral basis for the maximal order is given by $\{1, \alpha, \alpha^2, \alpha^3\}$, where α is a root of $t^4 - 4t^2 + 1$. One could take $\alpha = \sqrt{\sqrt{3} + 2}$. Here the Weil Restriction $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{Z}[\alpha]/\mathbb{Z}}$ and its universal maps are identified with Spec of

$$\mathbb{Z}[a, b, c, d][\alpha] \xleftarrow{a+b\alpha+c\alpha^2+d\alpha^3 \leftrightarrow t} \mathbb{Z}[a, b, c, d][t].$$

The element-wise computation

$$1 \mapsto 1$$

$$t \mapsto a + b\alpha + c\alpha^{2} + d\alpha^{3}$$

$$t^{2} \mapsto (a + b\alpha + c\alpha^{2} + d\alpha^{3})^{2}$$

$$t^{3} \mapsto (a + b\alpha + c\alpha^{2} + d\alpha^{3})^{3}$$

yields the matrix of coefficients

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a & a^2 - c^2 - 2bd - 4d^2 & A \\ 0 \ b & 2ab - 2cd & B \\ 0 \ c \ b^2 + 2ac + 4c^2 + 8bd + 15d^2 \ C \\ 0 \ d & 2bc + 2ad + 8cd & D \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$A = a^{3} - 3b^{2}c - 3ac^{2} - 4c^{3} - 6abd - 24bcd - 12ad^{2} - 45cd^{2},$$

$$B = 3a^{2}b - 3bc^{2} - 3b^{2}d - 6acd - 12c^{2}d - 12bd^{2} - 15d^{3},$$

$$C = 3ab^{2} + 3a^{2}c + 12b^{2}c + 12ac^{2} + 15c^{3} + 24abd + 90bcd + 45ad^{2} + 168cd^{2}$$

$$D = b^{3} + 6abc + 12bc^{2} + 3a^{2}d + 12b^{2}d + 24acd + 45c^{2}d + 45bd^{2} + 56d^{3}.$$

The determinant of this matrix yields the index form

$$(b^2 - 2c^2 + 6bd + 9d^2)(b^2 - 6c^2 + 10bd + 25d^2)(b^2 + 4bd + d^2).$$

One can compute that the index of $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{3}]$ inside of $\mathbb{Z}[\sqrt{\sqrt{3}+2}]$ is 2. Therefore the index forms are equivalent away from the prime 2.

Example 4.14 Let $K = \mathbb{Q}$, $L = K(\sqrt[3]{5^2 \cdot 7})$. The ring of integers $\mathbb{Z}_L = \mathbb{Z}[\sqrt[3]{5^2 \cdot 7}, \sqrt[3]{5 \cdot 7^2}]$ is not monogenic over \mathbb{Z} . Let $\alpha = \sqrt[3]{5^2 \cdot 7}$, $\beta = \sqrt[3]{5 \cdot 7^2}$. It turns out that $\{1, \alpha, \beta\}$ is a \mathbb{Z} -basis for \mathbb{Z}_L , so the universal map may be identified with

$$\mathbb{Z}_{L}[a, b, c] \xleftarrow{a+b\alpha+c\beta \leftrightarrow t} \mathbb{Z}[a, b, c][t].$$

$$\mathbb{Z}[a, b, c]$$

Expanding

$$1 \mapsto 1$$

$$t \mapsto a + b\alpha + c\beta,$$

$$t^{2} \mapsto (a + b\alpha + c\beta)^{2}$$

we find that the matrix of coefficients is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^2 + 70bc \\ 0 \ b \ 2ab + 7c^2 \\ 0 \ c \ 2ac + 5b^2 \end{bmatrix}$$

Computing the determinant, we get the index form $5b^3 - 7c^3$. Reducing modulo 7, we see that the index form cannot be equal to ± 1 , so the extension is not monogenic.

4.4 Other examples

Example 4.15 We investigate the analog of the integers in Example 4.10. We keep the same notation. The base ring is $\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha]$ and the extension ring is $\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha][x]/(x^3 - \alpha) = \mathbb{F}_3[\beta]$, where $\beta^3 = \alpha$.

$$\mathbb{F}_{3}[a, b, c][\beta] \xleftarrow{a+b\beta+c\beta^{2}\leftarrow x} \mathbb{F}_{3}[\alpha][a, b, c][x].$$

$$\mathbb{F}_{3}[\alpha][a, b, c]$$

$$1 \mapsto 1$$

$$x \mapsto a+b\beta+c\beta^{2}$$

$$x^{2} \mapsto (a+b\beta+c\beta^{2})^{2}$$

is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ a \ a^2 + 2bc\alpha \\ 0 \ b \ c^2\alpha + 2ab \\ 0 \ c \ b^2 + 2ac \end{bmatrix}.$$

The determinant is $b^3 - c^3 \alpha$, which is not geometrically reduced: it factors as $(b - c\beta)^3$. To find the monogenerators of this extension, we set this expression equal to the units of $\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha]$. Since $(\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha])^* = \pm 1$, the only solutions are $b = \pm 1$, c = 0. Thus

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,\mathbb{F}_3[\beta]/\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha]}(\mathbb{F}_3[\alpha]) = \{a \pm \beta : a \in \mathbb{F}_3[\alpha]\}.$$

We can see that, much like number rings, monogenicity imposes a stronger restriction here than it does for the extension of fraction fields.

Example 4.16 (Jet spaces of \mathbb{A}^2)

Let *k* be a field, $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$, and let $S' = k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^{m+1}$. Analogously to the case for jets in \mathbb{A}^1 (See example 2.7 and 4.3), the 2-genicity space of S'/S may be interpreted as the subscheme of regular jets inside the *m*-jet space $J_{m,\mathbb{A}^2} = \mathcal{R}_{\mathbb{A}^2,S'/S}$ of \mathbb{A}^2 . We compute the index form equations cutting out its complement. These become incomputable rapidly even for small *m*.

Consider an *m*-jet of $\mathbb{A}^2 = \operatorname{Spec} k[t, u]$ determined as in Example 4.3 by

$$t = a_0 + a_1\epsilon + a_2\epsilon^2 + \dots + a_m\epsilon^m$$
$$u = b_0 + b_1\epsilon + b_2\epsilon^2 + \dots + b_m\epsilon^m.$$

Linear changes of coordinates ensure $a_0 = b_0 = 0$ and that our jets satisfy $t^{m+1} = u^{m+1} = 0$ in $k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^{m+1}$. To find the matrix for the induced *k*-linear map from

$$k[t, u]/(t^{m+1}, u^{m+1}) = \bigoplus k \cdot t^e u^{k}$$

to the jets $k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^{m+1} = \bigoplus k \cdot \epsilon^i$, we need the coefficient of each ϵ^p in the expression:

$$\begin{split} t^{e} u^{f} &= (a_{1} \epsilon + a_{2} \epsilon^{2} + \dots + a_{m} \epsilon^{m})^{e} (b_{1} \epsilon + b_{2} \epsilon^{2} + \dots + b_{m} \epsilon^{m})^{f} \\ &= \left(\sum_{1 \leq r \leq m} \epsilon^{r} \cdot \sum_{\substack{i_{1} + i_{2} + \dots + i_{m} = m \\ i_{1} + 2i_{2} + \dots mi_{m} = r}} \binom{e}{i_{1}, \dots, i_{m}} \prod_{t=0}^{m} a_{t}^{i_{t}} \right) \\ &\cdot \left(\sum_{1 \leq s \leq m} \epsilon^{s} \cdot \sum_{\substack{j_{1} + j_{2} + \dots + j_{m} = m \\ j_{1} + 2j_{2} + \dots mj_{m} = s}} \binom{f}{j_{1}, \dots, j_{m}} \prod_{t=0}^{m} b_{t}^{j_{t}} \right) \\ &= \sum_{1 \leq p \leq m} \epsilon^{p} \left(\sum_{\substack{i_{1} + i_{2} + \dots + i_{m} = m \\ j_{1} + j_{2} + \dots + j_{m} = m \\ (i_{1} + j_{1}) + 2(i_{2} + j_{2}) + \dots + m(i_{m} + j_{m}) = p}} \binom{e}{i_{1}, \dots, i_{m}} \binom{f}{j_{1}, \dots, j_{m}} \prod_{t=0}^{m} a_{t}^{i_{t}} b_{t}^{j_{t}} \right) \end{split}$$

If e + f > p, the coefficient of ϵ^p in $t^e u^f$ is again zero. If e + f > m, all the coefficients are zero. The corresponding $m^2 \times m$ matrix is "lower triangular" in this sense.

Take m = 1 to reduce to A. Cayley's original situation of a $2 \times 2 \times 2$ hypermatrix; compute his second hyperdeterminant Det to be $a_1^2 b_1^2$. In this case, \mathcal{R}_2 is the tangent space of \mathbb{A}^2 , the index forms cut out the locus where both a_1 and b_1 are zero, and the hyperdeterminant cuts out the locus where *either* a_1 or b_1 are zero.

For other affine spaces \mathbb{A}^n , computability of J_{m,\mathbb{A}^n} is a serious constraint. Even the simplest case \mathbb{A}^3 and m = 1 yields a $2 \times 2 \times 2 \times 2$ hypermatrix. The formula for such a hyperdeterminant is degree 24 and has 2,894,276 terms [56, Remark 5.7].

4.5 Limits and colimits

If B/A is a limit of finite locally free *A*-algebras B_m , one may sometimes form its monogenicity space as well. Define

 $\mathcal{M}_{X,B/A} := \lim_{m} \mathcal{M}_{X,B_m/A}$

to be the limit of the restriction maps $\mathcal{M}_{X,B_{m+1}/A} \to \mathcal{M}_{X,B_m/A}$.

Lemma 4.17 Let B be an A-algebra which is complete with respect to $I \subseteq B$. Suppose each $B_m := B/I^m$ is finite locally free over A and $X \to \text{Spec } A$ is quasiprojective. Then $\mathcal{M}_{X,B/A}$ as defined above is a scheme, not merely a pro-scheme. It in fact parameterizes closed embeddings $s : \text{Spec } B \to X$ over Spec A as in Definition 2.2.

Proof The limit $\mathcal{M}_{X,B/A}$ is a scheme because the transition maps $\mathcal{M}_{X,B_{m+1}/A} \to \mathcal{M}_{X,B_m/A}$ are affine [72, 01YX]. It parameterizes such closed embeddings of Spec *B* instead of mere limits of closed embeddings due to a deep theorem of Bhatt: [7, Remark 4.6, Theorem 4.1].

The spaces $\mathcal{M}_{X,B/A}$ considered above generalize the arc spaces k[t]/k, k[x, y]/k mentioned in Example 2.7.

We would like to define the monogenicity space for colimits of algebras similarly, such as the perfection of a ring in characteristic *p*. Unfortunately, this is impossible:

Remark 4.18 Suppose $\{B_i\}$ is a diagram of A-algebras indexed by \mathbb{N} . Then for each i < j there is a natural map $\mathcal{R}_{B_i/A} \to \mathcal{R}_{B_j/A}$. Notice that if the image of some $\theta \in B_i$ is a monogenerator of B_j , then $B_i \to B_j$ is surjective. It follows that $\mathcal{R}_{B_i/A} \to \mathcal{R}_{B_j/A}$ only takes $\mathcal{M}_{B_i/A}$ into $\mathcal{M}_{B_j/A}$ if Spec $B_j \to$ Spec B_i is a closed immersion over each open set $U \subseteq$ Spec A over which $\mathcal{M}_{B_i/A}$ is non-empty. Assuming $\mathcal{M}_{B_0/A}$ is locally non-empty, the only diagrams $\{B_i\}$ for which the colimit colim_i $\mathcal{M}_{B_i/A}$ can even be formed are those for which each $B_i \to B_j$ is surjective. Since B_0 is Noetherian, all such diagrams are eventually constant and uninteresting.

5 Finite locally free algebras with monogenerators

We mention a related moduli problem and how it fits into the present schema. We resume the notation of Sect. 2.2. We rely on a classical representability result:

Theorem 5.1 ([21, Theorem 5.23]) If $X \to S$ is flat and projective and $Y \to S$ quasiprojective over a locally noetherian base S, the functor $\underline{Hom}_S(X, Y)$ is representable by an S-scheme.

The scheme $\underline{Hom}_{S}(X, Y)$ is a potentially infinite disjoint union of quasiprojective *S*-schemes.

Fix a flat, projective map $C \to S$ and quasiprojective $X \to S$. Assign to any *S*-scheme *T* the groupoid of finite locally free maps $Y \to C \times_S T$ of degree *n*. One can think of this as a *T*-indexed family of finite locally free maps $Y_t \to C$. This problem is represented by

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{A}_n,C/S} := \operatorname{Hom}_{S}(C,\mathfrak{A}_n).$$

A variant \mathfrak{B}_n of \mathfrak{A}_n represents finite locally free algebras \mathfrak{Q} over a scheme *T* together with a fixed global module basis $\mathfrak{Q} \simeq \mathfrak{O}_T^{\oplus n}$. We study moduli of finite locally free maps $Y \to C \times_S T$ together with a choice of monogenerator: **Definition 5.2** The moduli problem \mathscr{F} on *S*-schemes (*Sch*/*S*) has *T*-points given by:

- A finite, flat family $Y \rightarrow C \times_S T$ of degree *n*,
- A closed embedding $Y \subseteq X \times_S C \times_S T$ over $C \times_S T$.

These data form a fibered category via pullback. Define a variant \mathscr{F}' parameterizing the data above together with a global basis $\mathfrak{Q} \simeq \mathfrak{O}_T^{\oplus n}$ for the finite, flat algebra \mathfrak{Q} corresponding to $Y \to C \times_S T$.

The map $\mathscr{F}' \to \mathscr{F}$ forgetting the basis is a torsor for the smooth group scheme $\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(C, \operatorname{GL}_{n})$. Let X_{C} denote the pullback $X \times_{S} C$.

Theorem 5.3 The functors \mathscr{F} and \mathscr{F}' are representable by schemes. The Weil Restriction $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{B}_m,C/S} = \underline{Hom}_S(C,\mathfrak{B}_n)$ along $C \to S$ is a scheme, while $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{A}_n,C/S} = \underline{Hom}_S(C,\mathfrak{A}_n)$ is an algebraic stack.

Proof The stack \mathscr{F} is the Weil Restriction $\mathscr{R}_{\operatorname{Hilb}_{X_C/C}^n, C/S}$ of the Hilbert Scheme $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X_C/C}^n$ for $X_C \to C$ along the map $C \to S$. Both are therefore representable by *schemes* using the theorem. Note that $\operatorname{Hilb}_{X_C/C}^n$ is an infinite disjoint union of projective schemes indexed by Hilbert polynomials and not itself projective, but this suffices for representability.

Here is another way to witness representability. There are universal finite locally free maps

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\tilde{Z} & \tilde{Y} \\
\downarrow & \downarrow \\
C \times_S \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_S(C, \mathfrak{B}_n) & C \times_S \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_S(C, \mathfrak{A}_n),
\end{array}$$

with and without a global basis $\mathfrak{Q} \simeq \mathfrak{O}_T^{\oplus n}$. The sheaf \mathscr{F} may also be obtained by the Weil Restriction along $C \times_S \operatorname{Hom}_S(C, \mathfrak{A}_n) \to \operatorname{Hom}_S(C, \mathfrak{A}_n)$ of the monogenicity space $\mathcal{M}_{X, \tilde{Y}/C \times_S \operatorname{Hom}_S(C, \mathfrak{A}_n)}$. The same construction of \mathscr{F}' can be obtained with \mathfrak{B}_n in place of \mathfrak{A}_n .

We argue $\underline{\text{Hom}}_{S}(C, \mathfrak{A}_{n})$ is representable by an algebraic stack. The scheme \mathfrak{B}_{n} is a closed subscheme of an affine space, hence separated. The Weil Restriction $\underline{\text{Hom}}_{S}(C, \mathfrak{B}_{n})$ is a scheme by Theorem 5.1 and the map

 $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{S}(C,\mathfrak{B}_{n})\to\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{S}(C,\mathfrak{A}_{n})$

is again a torsor for the smooth group scheme $\underline{Hom}_S(C, GL_n)$. Therefore $\underline{Hom}_S(C, \mathfrak{A}_n)$ is algebraic.

Olsson's result [55, Theorem 1.1] does not apply here because \mathfrak{A}_n is not separated. This means the (representable) diagonal $\Delta_{\mathfrak{A}_n}$ is not proper, and this diagonal is a pseudotorsor for automorphisms of the universal finite locally free algebra. But the automorphism sheaf Aut(\mathfrak{Q}) of some finite locally free algebras need not be proper:

Example 5.4 Take the 2-adic integers \mathbb{Z}_2 , $\mathfrak{Q} = \mathbb{Z}_2[x]/x^2$, and the map $\mathfrak{Q} \to \mathfrak{Q}$ sending $x \mapsto 2x$. This is an automorphism over the generic point $\mathbb{Q}_2 = \mathbb{Z}_2[\frac{1}{2}]$ and the zero map over the special point $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} = \mathbb{Z}_2/2\mathbb{Z}_2$.

The diagonal $\Delta_{\mathfrak{A}_n}$ even fails to be quasifinite because some finite locally free algebras have infinitely many automorphisms:

Example 5.5 (Infinite automorphisms) The dual numbers $k[\epsilon]/\epsilon^n$ have an action of \mathbb{G}_m by $\epsilon \mapsto u \cdot \epsilon$ for a unit $u \in \mathbb{G}_m(k)$.

For another example, let *k* be an infinite field of characteristic three and consider $\mathcal{Q} = k[x, y]/(x^3, y^3 - 1)$. Because $(y + x)^3 = y^3$, there are automorphisms $y \mapsto y + ux$ for any $u \in k$.

The reader may define *stable algebras* as those with unramified automorphism group [72, 0DSN]. There is a universal open, Deligne-Mumford substack $\tilde{\mathfrak{A}}_n \subseteq \mathfrak{A}_n$ of stable algebras [72, 0DSL]. This locus consists of points where the action $\operatorname{GL}_n \odot \mathfrak{B}_n$ has unramified stabilizers [58, Sect. 2].

Funding Funding was provided by National Science Foundation (Grant no. 1840190.)

Data availability Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

Author details

¹University of Leiden, Leiden, The Netherlands, ² Tufts University, Medford, MA, USA, ³ California State University San Marcos, San Marcos, CA, USA.

Received: 4 January 2022 Accepted: 20 November 2022 Published online: 12 January 2023

References

- Alpöge, L., Bhargava, M., Shnidman, A.: A positive proportion of cubic fields are not monogenic yet have no local obstruction to being so. (2020). arXiv: 2011.01186 [math.NT]
- Alpöge, L., Bhargava, M., Shnidman, A.: A positive proportion of quartic fields are not monogenic yet have no local obstruction to being so. (2021). arXiv: 2107.05514 [math.NT]
- 3. Alling, N.L.: A proof of the corona conjecture for finite open Riemann surfaces. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 70, 110–112 (1964)
- Atiyah, M.F., Macdonald, I.G.: Introduction to commutative algebra. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, pp. ix+128 (1969)
- Bosma, W., Cannon, J., Playoust, C.: The Magma algebra system. I. The user language. In: J. Symbolic Comput. 24.3-4 (1997). Computational algebra and number theory (London, 1993), pp. 235–265. ISSN: 0747-7171. https://doi.org/10. 1006/jsco.1996.0125
- Bérczes, A., Evertse, J.-H., Györy, K.: Multiply monogenic orders. In: Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 5:12.2, pp. 467–497 (2013). ISSN: 0391-173X
- 7. Bhatt, B.: Algebraization and Tannaka duality. In: Cambridge Journal of Mathematics, vol. 4.4, pp. 403–461 (2016)
- 8. Bhargava, M.: On the number of monogenizations of a quartic order (2021). arXiv: 2111.04215 [math.NT]
- Bhargava, M., Hanke, J., Shankar, A.: The mean number of 2-torsion elements in the class groups of n-monogenized cubicfields (2020). arXiv: 2010.15744 [math.NT]
- Bosch, S., Lütkebohmert, W., Raynaud, M.: Néron Models. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge / A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics. Springer Berlin (2012). ISBN: 9783642514388. https://books.google. com/books?id=BNfnCAAAQBAJ
- Bhargava, M., Shankar, A., Wang, X.: Squarefree values of polynomial discriminants I. arXiv e-prints (2016). arXiv:1611.09806 [math.NT]
- 12. Casnati, G., Ekedahl, T.: Covers of algebraic varieties. I. A general structure theorem, covers of degree 3; 4 and Enriques surfaces. In: J. Algebraic Geom., vol. 5.3, pp. 439–460 (1996). ISSN: 1056-3911
- 13. Connett, J.E.: A generalization of the Borsuk-Ulam theorem. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 7, 64–66 (1973)
- Dedekind, R.: Über den Zusammenhang zwischen der Theorie der Ideale und der Theorie der höheren Kongruenzen. In: Gött. Abhandlungen, pp. 1–23 (1878)
- Demailly, J.-P.: Algebraic criteria for kobayashi hyperbolic projective varieties and jet differentials, vol. 62, pp. 32–20 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1090/pspum/062.2/1492539
- 16. Duvall, P.F., Husch, L. S.: Embedding coverings into bundles with applications. Memoirs Am. Math. Soc. 263 (1982)
- 17. Duchamp, T.: Primitive elements in rings of holomorphic functions. J. für die reine und Angewandte Mathematik **346**, 199–220 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1515/crll.1984.346.199
- Evertse, J.-H., Györy, K.: Discriminant equations in Diophantine number theory, vol. 32. New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2017), pp. xviii+457. ISBN: 978-1-107-09761-2. https://doi.org/10. 1017/CB09781316160763
- 19. Evertse, J.-H., Györy, K.: On unit equations and decomposable form equations. J. Reine Angew. Math. 358, 6–19 (1985)
- Evertse, J.-H.: A survey on monogenic orders. Publ. Math. Debrecen 79(3–4), 411–422 (2011). https://doi.org/10.5486/ PMD.2011.5150
- 21. Fantechi, B., et al.: Fundamental Algebraic Geometry: Grothendieck's FGA Explained. AMS, Providence (2005)
- 22. Farrell, T.F.: Right-orderable deck transformation groups. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 6, 441–447 (1976)
- 23. Gaál, I.: Power integral bases in cubic relative extensions. Exp. Math. 10(1), 133–139 (2001)

- 24. Gaál, I.: Diophantine equations and power integral bases. Theory and algorithms, 2nd edn [MR1896601]. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham (2019), pp. xxii+326. ISBN: 978-3-030-23864-3; 978-3-030-23865- 0. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-23865-0
- Gorin, E.A., Lin, V.J.: Algebraic equations with continuous coefficients and some problems of the algebraic theory of braids. Math. USSR-Sbornik 7, 569–596 (1969)
- Gaál, I., Pohst, M.: Computing power integral bases in quartic relative extensions. J. Number Theory 85(2), 201–219 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1006/jnth.2000.2541
- Gaál, I., Remete, L.: Integral bases and monogenity of composite fields. Exp. Math. 28(2), 209–222 (2019). https://doi. org/10.1080/10586458.2017.1382404
- Gaál, I., Remete, L.: Power integral bases in cubic and quartic extensions of real quadratic fields. Acta Scientiarum Mathematicarum 85(34), 413–429 (2019). https://doi.org/10.14232/actasm-018-080-z
- Gaál, I., Remete, L., Szabó, T.: Calculating power integral bases by using relative power integral bases. Funct. Approx. Comment. Math. 54(2), 141–149 (2016). https://doi.org/10.7169/facm/2016.54.2.1
- Gaál, I., Szabó, T.: Relative power integral bases in infinite families of quartic extensions of quadratic fields. J. Algebra Number Theory Appl. 29(1), 31–43 (2013)
- 31. Gouvêa, Fernando Q., Webster, J.: Dedekind on higher congruences and index divisors, 1871 and 1878. 2021. arXiv:2107.08905 [math.NT]
- Gouvêa, F.Q., Webster, J.: Kurt Hensel on common inessential discriminant divisors, 1894(2021). arXiv:2108.05327 [math.HO]
- 33. Györy, K.: Sur les polynômes à coefficients entiers et de discriminant donné. Acta Arith. 23, 419–426 (1973)
- Györy, K.: Sur les polynômes à coefficients entiers et de discriminant donné. II. Publ. Math. Debrecen 21, 125–144 (1974)
- Györy, K.: Sur les polynômes à coefficients entiers et de discriminant donné. III. Publ. Math. Debrecen 23(1–2), 141–165 (1976)
- Györy, K.: Sur les polynômes à coefficients entiers et de discriminant donné. IV. Publ. Math. Debrecen 25, 155–167 (1978)
- Györy, K.: Sur les polynômes à coefficients entiers et de discriminant donné. V. Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 32, 175–190 (1978)
- Györy, K.: Corps de nombres algébriques d'anneau d'entiers monogène. In: Séminaire Delange-Pisot-Poitou, 20e année: (1978/1979). Théörie des nombres, Fasc. 2 (French). Secrétariat Math., Paris, Exp. No. 26, 7 (1980)
- Györy, K.: On discriminants and indices of integers of an algebraic number field. J. Reine Angew. Math. 324, 114–126 (1981). https://doi.org/10.1515/crll.1981.324.114
- Hall, M.: Indices in cubic fields. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 43(2), 104–108 (1937). https://doi.org/10.1090/ S0002-9904-1937-06503-7
- 41. Hansen, V.L.: Embedding finite covirng spaces into trivial bundles. Math. Ann. 236, 239–243 (1978)
- 42. Hansen, V.L.: Polynomial covering spaces and homomorphisms into the braid groups. Pac. J. Math. 81, 399–410 (1979)
- 43. Hansen, V.L.: Coverings defined by Weierstrass polynomials. J. Reine Angew. Math. 314, 29–39 (1980)
- 44. Hartshorne, R.: Algebraic Geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52. Springer, New York, pp. xvi+496 (1977)
- Hensel, K.: Arithmetische Untersuchungen über die gemeinsamen ausserwesentlichen Discriminantentheiler einer Gattung. J. Reine Angew. Math. 113, 128–160 (1894). https://doi.org/10.1515/crll.1894.113.128
- Herr, L: If the normalization is affine, is it affine? (if quasiaffine). MathOver ow. version. Accessed 30 Nov 2020. https:// mathoverflow.net/g/377840
- Herr, L: When is a twisted form coming from a torsor trivial? (answer). MathOver ow. version. Accessed 6 Sept 2020. https://mathoverflow.net/q/370972
- Ji, L., et al. Weil restriction for schemes and beyond (2017). http://www-personal.umich.edu/~stevmatt/weil_ restriction.pdf
- König, J.: A note on families of monogenic number fields. Kodai Math. J. 41(2), 456–464 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 2996/kmj/1530496853
- Lin, V.J.: Algebroid functions and holomorphic elements of homotopy groups of a complex manifold. Soviet Math. Dokl. 12, 1608–1612 (1971)
- 51. Lønsted, K.: On the embedding of coverings into 1-dimensional bundles. J. Reine Angew. Math. 317, 88–101 (1980)
- Mayer, K.H., Schwartzenberger, R.L.E.: Non-embedding theorems for Y-spaces. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 63, 601–612 (1967)
- Narkiewicz, W: Elementary and analytic theory of algebraic numbers, 3rd. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, pp. xii+708 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-07001-7
- Narkiewicz, W.: The story of algebraic numbers in the first half of the 20th century: from Hilbert to Tate. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, Cham, pp. xi+443 (2018). ISBN: 978-3-030-03753-6; 978-3-030-03754-3
- Olsson, M.C.: Hom-stacks and restriction of scalars. Duke Math. J. 134(1), 139–164 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1215/ S0012-7094-06-13414-2
- Ottaviani, G.: Introduction to the hyperdeterminant and to the rank of multidimensional matrices. ArXiv e-prints, arXiv:1301.0472 [math.AG] (2013)
- 57. Pleasants, P.A.B.: The number of generators of the integers of a number field. Mathematika **21**, 160–167 (1974). https://doi.org/10.1112/S0025579300008548
- Poonen, B.: The moduli space of commutative algebras of finite rank. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 10, 131 (2006). https://doi.org/ 10.4171/JEMS/131
- 59. Prill, D.: Primitive holomorphic maps of curves. Manuscripta Math. 32, 59–80 (1980)
- 60. Röhrl, H.: Question 13 of Appendix, Proceedings of the Conference on Complex Analysis, Minneapolis 1964. Berlin (1965)
- 61. Rydh, D.: Families of cycles and the Chow scheme (2008). (PhD dissertation, KTH). http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn: nbn:se:kth:diva-4813
- 62. Samsky, S.R.: Finite covers and modules of functions. Math. Ann. 236, 117–123 (1978)

- Serre, J.-P.: Local fields. Vol. 67. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Translated from the French by Marvin Jay Greenberg, pp. viii+241. Springer, New York. ISBN: 0-387-90424-7 (1979)
- 64. Siad, A.: Monogenic fields with odd class number Part I. Odd degree (2020). arXiv: 2011.08834 [math.NT]
- 65. Siad, A.: Monogenic fields with odd class number Part II. Even degree (2020). arXiv: 2011.08842 [math.NT]
- 66. Stout, E.L.: Extensions of rings of holomorphic functions. Math. Ann. 196, 275–280 (1972)
- 67. Stutz, J.: Primitive elements for modules over O(Y). Duke Math. J. 41, 329–333 (1974)
- Swaminathan, A.: Most Integral Odd-Degree Binary Forms Fail to Properly Represent a Square (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.48550/ARXIV.1910.12409
- Spearman, B.K., Yang, Q., Yoo, J.: Minimal indices of pure cubic fields. Arch. Math. 106(1), 35–40 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1007/s00013-015-0812-z
- The LMFDB Collaboration. The L-functions and modular forms database. http://www.lmfdb.org. Accessed 15 July 2021 (2021)
- 71. The Sage Developers. SageMath, the Sage Mathematics Software System (Version 8.7). https://www.sagemath.org (2019)
- 72. The Stacks Project Authors. Stacks Project. http://stacks.math.columbia.edu (2020)
- 73. Vojta, P.: Jets via Hasse-Schmidt Derivations. arXiv Mathematics e-prints (2004). arXiv:math/0407113 [math.AG]

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor (e.g. a society or other partner) holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.